

The structure of the singular set in the thin obstacle problem for degenerate parabolic equations

Agnid Banerjee¹ · Donatella Danielli² · Nicola Garofalo³ · Arshak Petrosyan⁴

Received: 23 August 2020 / Accepted: 8 February 2021 / Published online: 27 April 2021 © The Author(s) 2021

Abstract

We study the singular set in the thin obstacle problem for degenerate parabolic equations with weight $|y|^a$ for $a \in (-1, 1)$. Such problem arises as the local extension of the obstacle problem for the fractional heat operator $(\partial_t - \Delta_x)^s$ for $s \in (0, 1)$. Our main result establishes the complete structure and regularity of the singular set of the free boundary. To achieve it, we prove Almgren-Poon, Weiss, and Monneau type monotonicity formulas which generalize those for the case of the heat equation (a = 0).

Mathematics Subject Classification 35R35 · 35K85 · 35K65 · 35R11

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Notations and preliminaries	4
3	Classes of solutions	8
4	Almgren-Poon type monotonicity formula	11
5	Gaussian estimates	17
6	Existence and homogeneity of blowups	23
7	Homogeneous global solutions and regular points	33
8	Classification of free boundary points	37
9	Singular points	38
10	Weiss and Monneau type monotonicity formulas	41
11	Structure of the singular set	46
	Appendix	
Re	eferences	51

Communicated by F.-H. Lin.

A. Banerjee: The first author was supported in part by SERB Matrix grant MTR/2018/000267 N. Garofalo: The third author was supported in part by a Progetto SID (Investimento Strategico di Dipartimento) "Non-local operators in geometry and in free boundary problems, and their connection with the applied sciences", University of Padova, 2017.

A. Petrosyan: The fourth author was supported in part by NSF Grant DMS-1800527.

 Nicola Garofalo rembrandt54@gmail.com

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

1 Introduction

The last decade has seen a resurgence of interest in the study of lower-dimensional, or thin obstacle problems, largely motivated on the one hand by the applications, and on the other hand by the development of new mathematical tools and techniques. The primary objective of the present paper is the study of the so-called *singular set* of the free boundary in the following degenerate parabolic thin obstacle problem. Given a parameter $a \in (-1, 1)$, and a function ψ (the thin obstacle) on Q_1 , we consider the problem of finding a function U in \mathbb{Q}^+_1 such that

$$\begin{cases} y^a \partial_t U = \operatorname{div}_X(y^a \nabla_X U) & \text{in } \mathbb{Q}_1^+, \\ \min \left\{ U(x,0,t) - \psi(x,t), -\lim_{y \to 0^+} y^a \partial_y U(x,y,t) \right\} = 0, & \text{for } (x,t) \in Q_1. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

For a detailed explanation of (1.1) and the relevant notation we refer the reader to Sect. 2. We say that (1.1) is a thin obstacle problem since the function ψ is supported in the codimension one manifold $\{y = 0\} \times (-1, 0)$ in the space-time variables (X, t), with $X = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$. An important motivation for (1.1) is provided by its connection to the obstacle problem for the nonlocal heat operator

$$\min\{u - \psi, \ (\partial_t - \Delta_x)^s u\} = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

with the fractional parameter $s \in (0, 1)$ related to $a \in (-1, 1)$ by the equation a = 1 - 2s. The passage from (1.2) to (1.1) rests on the extension procedure for the operator $(\partial_t - \Delta_x)^s$, developed independently by Nyström and Sande in [24] and by Stinga and Torrea in [27]. Such result represents the parabolic counterpart of the famous Caffarelli and Silvestre's extension work [9].

When s = 1/2 the problem (1.2) arises in the modeling of semipermeable membranes in the process of osmosis (for this and related problems see the classical monograph [14]). In such case, by taking a = 0 in (1.1), we see that (1.2) is equivalent to a lower-dimensional obstacle problem of Signorini type for the standard heat equation. We recall that in the paper [13] three of us and T. To developed an extensive analysis for this problem. The optimal regularity of the solution was established, together with the $H^{1+\alpha,(1+\alpha)/2}$ -regularity of the so-called *regular* free boundary, and a structure theorem for the singular part of the free boundary. We also refer to [2] for quasiconvexity results for certain generalized versions of the Signorini problem studied in [13].

In the present paper, and in the work [6], we develop an analysis similar to the one in [13], but for the general case -1 < a < 1 in (1.1). In the first part of this program, which is the content of this paper, we provide a systematic classification of free boundary points. The main tool is a monotonicity formula of Almgren-Poon type, which we utilize in the analysis of the blowup limits of appropriate rescalings. We also establish monotonicity formulas of Weiss- and Monneau-type, which we employ to establish a structure theorem for the singular set.

Although the work in [13] has served as a road map for our analysis, in the setting of the present paper one faces novel complications deriving from: (a) the presence of the degenerate weight y^a in (1.1); (b) the lower regularity of the solution in the time variable; and (c) the fact that, because of the nature of the Almgren-Poon frequency, in the relevant $W^{2,2}$ estimates one must work with the Gaussian, instead of Lebesgue measure.

In connection with our results we recall that in their recent work [1], Athanasopoulos, Caffarelli, and Milakis show that, at a local level, the fractional obstacle problem (1.2) is

equivalent to one of type (1.1) under appropriate initial and boundary conditions. Based on such correspondence, the authors focus their attention on (1.1), establishing the optimal interior regularity of the solution, as well as the $C^{1,\alpha}$ regularity of the free boundary near certain non-singular points (which we call hyperbolic regular points, see Remark 7.4 for more details). In their study the authors use global assumptions on the initial data to infer quasi-convexity properties of the solutions, leading to their optimal regularity result.

The present work is completely different from [1] and it is developed in total independence from it. First of all, our main objective is the novel treatment of the singular part of the free boundary. A further difference is that our approach is purely local. By this we mean that we establish localized versions of the regularity estimates in [1], both for the solution and for the free boundary. This is of critical importance in the further analysis of the problem as it allows to consider the blowups at free boundary points, leading to their fine classification, see also our work [6], which complements and provides a foundation for this work.

To provide the reader with some further perspectives on the objectives of the present paper, we mention that our results are inspired by those in the time-independent case in [18]. In that paper, two of us first analyzed the structure of the singular set in the case a = 0 using some monotonicity formulas of Weiss and Monneau type. More recently, their results have been extended to the whole range $a \in (-1, 1)$ in [21]. We also mention the recent interesting paper [11], where for the time-independent Signorini problem (a = 0) a finer stratification of the singular set is obtained using a variant of Weiss' epiperimetric inequality in [19], and the work [15] for a further refined analysis of the structure of the singular set under certain geometric assumption on the obstacle. A parabolic version of such epiperimetric inequality (again, when a = 0) has been very recently established in [26], where it has also been shown that such an inequality, combined with the results in [13], provides a finer structure theorem of the singular set in the parabolic thin obstacle problem. Finally, we mention the work [4] on unique continuation for degenerate parabolic equations such as that in (1.1), where Almgren-Poon monotonicity formulas were established, and the recent work [3] for related results on the nodal sets of solution.

In closing, we say something about the organization of the present paper. In Sect. 2 we introduce some basic notations and gather some known results which are relevant to our work. In Sect. 3 we introduce the class of global solutions $\mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}^+_1)$ of the thin obstacle problem (1.1). In particular, we show how to effectively "subtract" the obstacle by maximally using its regularity, thus converting the original problem into one with zero thin obstacle, but with a non-homogeneous right hand side. In Sect. 4 we establish a generalized Almgren-Poon type monotonicity formula for solutions to (1.1). Section 5 contains $W^{2,2}$ -type estimates in the Gaussian space. Such estimates are instrumental to the study of blowups in Sect. 6, which is the most technical part of the paper. There, we prove the existence and homogeneity of blowups at free boundary points where the separation rate of the solution from the thin obstacle dominates the "truncation" terms in the generalized monotonicity formula. In Sect. 7 we establish a basic Liouville type theorem, which is used in Sect. 8 to classify the free boundary points according to the homogeneity of the blowup. In Sect. 9 we give a characterization of the so-called singular points (i.e., points where the free boundary is asymptotically negligible). Section 10 contains new Weiss- and Monneau-type monotonicity formulas which generalize those in [18,21] and [13]. Finally, following the circle of ideas in [13] for the case a = 0, in Sect. 11 we briefly outline how to combine the Weiss- and Monneau-type monotonicity formulas with the results established in the previous sections. The objective is to conclude uniqueness of blowups and obtain a structure theorem for the singular set (see Theorem 11.2). The paper ends with an appendix where we prove some of the auxiliary results stated in Sect. 4, that are crucial in the proof of our Almgren-Poon type monotonicity formula.

2 Notations and preliminaries

In this section we introduce the basic notation and collect some background material which will be used throughout our work. We indicate with $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ a generic point in \mathbb{R}^n , by (x, t) a point in the space-time $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$, whereas the letter y will denote the "extension variable" on the half-line $(0, \infty)$. The generic point in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ = \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$ will be denoted by X = (x, y). At times, we will tacitly use the same notation to indicate the generic point in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , i.e., without the restriction that y be > 0. For instance, given r > 0 we respectively denote by B_r and \mathbb{B}_r the Euclidean balls centered at the origin with radius r in the variables $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $X = (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. We also let $\mathbb{B}_r^{\pm} = \{X = (x, y) \in \mathbb{B}_r \mid \pm y > 0\}$. We denote by

$$Q_r = B_r \times (-r^2, 0], \quad \mathbb{Q}_r = \mathbb{B}_r \times (-r^2, 0], \quad r > 0,$$

respectively the parabolic cylinders in the thin space $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ and thick space $(X, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$. We will indicate by

$$\mathbb{Q}_r^{\pm} = \mathbb{B}_r^{\pm} \times (-r^2, 0]$$

the parabolic half-cylinder in the thick space.

Given an open set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times \mathbb{R}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$, by $W_q^{2m,m}(E, y^a dXdt)$ we will denote the parabolic Sobolev space of functions u in $L^q(E, y^a dXdt)$ whose distributional derivatives $\partial_t^{\alpha} \partial_X^{\beta} u$ belong to $L^q(E, y^a dXdt)$ for $2|\alpha| + |\beta| \leq 2m$. Such a space is endowed with the natural norm. Further, for given $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ by $H^{k+\alpha,(k+\alpha)/2}$ we will indicate the classical parabolic Hölder spaces, see e.g. [13] for detailed definition.

Given a number $a \in (-1, 1)$, we consider in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$ the degenerate parabolic operator defined by

$$\mathscr{L}_{a}U \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \partial_{t}(|y|^{a}U) - \operatorname{div}_{X}(|y|^{a}\nabla_{X}U).$$
(2.1)

This is the so-called *extension operator* for the fractional powers $(\partial_t - \Delta_x)^s$, 0 < s < 1, of the heat operator. It was recently introduced independently by Nyström-Sande in [24], and Stinga-Torrea in [27]. These authors proved that, if for a given $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$, the function U solves the problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_a U = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (0, \infty), \\ U(x, 0, t) = u(x, t), & (x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \end{cases}$$

(such problem can be solved by means of an explicit Poisson kernel) then, with $s \in (0, 1)$ determined by the equation a = 1 - 2s, one has (both in L^{∞} and L^2)

$$-\frac{2^{-a}\Gamma\left(\frac{1-a}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+a}{2}\right)}\,\partial_y^a U(x,0,t)=(\partial_t-\Delta_x)^s u(x,t),$$

where $\partial_v^a U$ denotes the weighted normal derivative

$$\partial_y^a U(x,0,t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{y \to 0^+} y^a \partial_y U(x,y,t).$$

The proof is based on the representation

$$\mathscr{L}_a = y^a (\partial_t - \Delta_x - \mathscr{B}_y^{(a)}), \quad \text{for } y > 0, \tag{2.2}$$

D Springer

where $\mathscr{B}_{y}^{(a)} = \partial_{y}^{2} + (a/y)\partial_{y}$ is the generator of the Bessel semigroup on $(\mathbb{R}^{+}, y^{a}dy)$. Moreover, it was shown in [1] that, at a local level, problem (1.2) is equivalent to the following thin obstacle problem for the local degenerate parabolic equation

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_{a}U = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{Q}_{1}^{+}, \\ \min\{U(x,0,t) - \psi(x,t), -\partial_{y}^{a}U(x,0,t)\} = 0 & \text{on } Q_{1}, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

which is the same as (1.1). Although such denomination is commonly used for the case a = 0(s = 1/2), throughout the paper we will routinely refer to (2.3) as the parabolic Signorini problem. We will also assume that the solution of has the following minimal regularity:

- $\nabla_x U, y^a U_y \in H^{\alpha, \alpha/2}(\mathbb{Q}_1^+)$ for some $\alpha > 0$; $U_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Q}_1^+)$; $y^a |\nabla U_{x_i}|^2, y^{-a} (y^a U_y)_y^2 \in L^1(\mathbb{Q}_1^+)$.

This regularity follows for instance from global semiconvexity assumptions in [1], with norms depending on the initial data. But, for solutions of (2.3), it can also be obtained directly in the form of interior estimates independent of initial data, see the forthcoming paper [6].

We next consider, for any a > -1, the Cauchy problem with Neumann boundary condition

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \mathscr{B}_y^{(a)} u = 0 & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times (0, \infty), \\ u(y, 0) = \varphi(y), & y \in (0, \infty), \\ \partial_y^a u(0, t) = 0, & t \in (0, \infty). \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

This corresponds to one-dimensional Brownian motion reflected at y = 0. Consider the following classes of functions

$$\mathscr{C}_{(a)}(0,\infty) = \left\{ \varphi \in C(0,\infty) \left| \int_0^R |\varphi(y)| y^a dy < \infty, \ \int_R^\infty |\varphi(y)| y^{\frac{a}{2}} dy < \infty, \forall R > 0 \right\},\right.$$

and

$$\mathscr{C}^{1}_{(a)}(0,\infty) = \left\{ \varphi \in C^{1}(0,\infty) \mid \varphi, y^{-1}\varphi' \in \mathscr{C}_{(a)}(0,\infty) \right\}.$$

As it was observed in (22.8) of [16] membership in $\mathscr{C}^{1}_{(a)}(0,\infty)$ imposes, in particular, the weak Neumann condition

$$\liminf_{y \to 0^+} y^a |\varphi'(y)| = 0.$$
(2.5)

For an analytic proof of the next result we refer the reader to Proposition 22.3 in [16].

Proposition 2.1 Given $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}^{1}_{(a)}(0, \infty)$, the Cauchy problem (2.4) admits the following solution

$$u(y,t) = P_t^{(a)}\varphi(y) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_0^\infty \varphi(\eta) p^{(a)}(y,\eta,t) \eta^a d\eta, \qquad (2.6)$$

where for $y, \eta, t > 0$ we have denoted by

$$p^{(a)}(y,\eta,t) = (2t)^{-\frac{a+1}{2}} \left(\frac{y\eta}{2t}\right)^{\frac{1-a}{2}} I_{\frac{a-1}{2}}\left(\frac{y\eta}{2t}\right) e^{-\frac{y^2+\eta^2}{4t}}.$$
(2.7)

For t < 0 we set $p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t) \equiv 0$.

Springer

In (2.7) we have denoted by $I_{\nu}(z)$ the modified Bessel function of the first kind and order $\nu \in \mathbb{C}$ defined, in the complex plane cut along the negative real axis, by the series

$$I_{\nu}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(z/2)^{\nu+2k}}{\Gamma(k+1)\Gamma(k+\nu+1)}, \qquad |z| < \infty, \ |\arg z| < \pi.$$
(2.8)

When restricted to the positive real axis $\Re z > 0$, as in (2.7) above, the function I_{ν} takes strictly positive values for every $\nu > -1$. As a consequence of this observation, $I_{\frac{a-1}{2}}\left(\frac{y\eta}{2t}\right) > 0$ for every a > -1, and every $y, \eta, t > 0$. We note the following elementary properties of the Bessel heat kernel $p^{(a)}$:

- (i) $p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t) > 0$ for every $y, \eta > 0$ and t > 0;
- (ii) $p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t) = p^{(a)}(\eta, y, t);$ (iii) $p^{(a)}(\lambda y, \lambda \eta, \lambda^2 t) = \lambda^{-(a+1)} p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t).$

By Remark 22.4 in [16], for every y > 0, t > 0 one has

$$p^{(a)}(y,t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} p^{(a)}(y,0,t) = \frac{1}{2^a \Gamma(\frac{a+1}{2})} t^{-\frac{a+1}{2}} e^{-\frac{y^2}{4t}}.$$
(2.9)

The next two results show that (2.6) defines a stochastically complete semigroup $\{P_t^{(a)}\}_{t>0}$. For their proofs we refer to [17, Propositions 2.3, 2.4].

Proposition 2.2 Let a > -1. For every $(y, t) \in (0, \infty) \times (0, \infty)$ one has

$$\int_0^\infty p^{(a)}(y,\eta,t)\eta^a d\eta = 1.$$

Proposition 2.3 Let a > -1. For every $y, \eta > 0$ and every $0 < s, t < \infty$ one has

$$p^{(a)}(y,\eta,s+t) = \int_0^\infty p^{(a)}(y,\zeta,t) p^{(a)}(\zeta,\eta,s) \zeta^a d\zeta.$$

We further note that in view of representation (2.2), the fundamental solution for \mathcal{L}_a in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (0, \infty)$, with Neumann condition on the thin manifold $(\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}) \times (0, \infty)$, and singularity at $(Y, 0) = (\xi, \eta, 0)$, is given by

$$\mathscr{G}_{a}(X, Y, t) = p(x, \xi, t) p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t), \qquad (2.10)$$

where $p(x, \xi, t) = (4\pi t)^{-n/2} \exp(-\frac{|x-\xi|^2}{4t})$ is the standard heat kernel in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$ and $p^{(a)}(y, \eta, t)$ is given by (2.7) above. This means that, given a function $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, the Cauchy problem with Neumann condition

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_{a}U = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} \times (0, \infty) \\ U(X, 0) = \varphi(X), & X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}, \\ \partial^{a}_{y}U(x, 0, t) = 0, & t \in (0, \infty), \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

is represented by the formula

$$U(X,t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \varphi(Y) \mathscr{G}_a(X,Y,t) \eta^a dY.$$
(2.12)

Using Proposition 2.2, and the well-known fact that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} p(x, \xi, t) d\xi = 1$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and t > 0, it is trivial to verify that for every $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ and t > 0 one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \mathscr{G}_a(X, Y, t) \eta^a dY = 1.$$
(2.13)

We also note that (ii) and (iii) above give for every $X, Y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, and t > 0,

Henceforth, we take Y = 0 in (2.10), and with a slight abuse of the notation, we write

$$\mathscr{G}_a(X,t) = \mathscr{G}_a(X,0,t).$$

By (2.10) and (2.9) above, we obtain

$$\mathscr{G}_{a}(X,t) = \frac{(4\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}}}{2^{a}\Gamma(\frac{a+1}{2})}t^{-\frac{n+a+1}{2}}e^{-\frac{|X|^{2}}{4t}}.$$
(2.14)

From (2.13) and (ii)' we have for every t > 0

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} \mathscr{G}_{a}(X,t) y^{a} dX = 1.$$
(2.15)

We denote by

$$\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,t) = \mathscr{G}_a(X,|t|), \quad t < 0,$$
(2.16)

the Neumann fundamental solution of the backward operator $\mathscr{L}_a^{\star} = y^a \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}_X(y^a \nabla_X)$. This means that $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$ satisfies the equation in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-\infty, 0)$,

$$\mathscr{L}_{a}^{\star}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} = y^{a}\partial_{t}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} + \operatorname{div}_{X}(y^{a}\nabla_{X}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}) = 0, \qquad (2.17)$$

plus the Neumann condition

$$\partial_{\nu}^{a}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(x,0,t) = 0.$$
(2.18)

From (2.14), for $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ and t < 0 we have the reproducing property

$$\nabla \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = \frac{X}{2t} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a. \tag{2.19}$$

We now consider the parabolic dilations in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\delta_{\lambda}(X,t) = (\lambda X, \lambda^2 t). \tag{2.20}$$

A function $f : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be homogeneous of degree $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ with respect to (2.20) if $f \circ \delta_{\lambda} = \lambda^{\kappa} f$. The infinitesimal generator of the group $\{\delta_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda>0}$ is

$$Zf = \langle X, \nabla f \rangle + 2tf_t. \tag{2.21}$$

A C^1 function is κ -homogeneous with respect to (2.20) if and only if one has $Zf = \kappa f$. For instance, since from (iii)' above we see that

$$\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \circ \delta_\lambda = \lambda^{-(n+a+1)} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a, \qquad (2.22)$$

and therefore

$$Z\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = -(n+a+1)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a. \tag{2.23}$$

For later use we notice that for every (X, t) such that $t \neq 0$, (2.21) can be rewritten

$$\frac{Zf}{2t} = f_t + \langle \nabla f, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle.$$
(2.24)

Further, we indicate with

$$|(X,t)| = \sqrt{|X|^2 + |t|},$$

the standard parabolic pseudo-distance from the origin in the variables $(X, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$. Notice that such function is positively homogeneous of degree one with respect to the dilations (2.20).

In closing, for every r > 0 we introduce the sets

$$S_{r} = \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times (-r^{2}, 0],$$

$$S_{r}^{+} = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} \times (-r^{2}, 0],$$

$$S_{r} = \mathbb{R}^{n} \times (-r^{2}, 0].$$

(2.25)

We emphasize that the + sign in the notation \mathbb{S}_r^+ refers to the variable y > 0 and not to the time variable *t*, which is instead negative for points in such set. The following simple lemma will be used in the subsequent sections.

Lemma 2.4 For every r > 0 we have

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt = 1.$$

Proof By (2.22) we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt &= r^{-(n+a+1)} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X/r, t/r^2) y^a dX dt \\ &= r^2 \int_{-1}^0 \int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1}} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(Y, \tau) \eta^a dY d\tau = r^2, \end{split}$$

where in the second equality we have made a change of variables Y = X/r, $\tau = t/r^2$, for which $y^a dX dt = r^{n+a+3} \eta^a dY d\tau$, and in the last equality we have used (2.15).

3 Classes of solutions

In this section we make some critical reductions on the problem (2.3). As a first step, we reduce the problem (2.3) to one with zero obstacle at the expense of introducing a nonzero right-hand side in the governing equation. The most straightforward way to do so is by considering the difference

$$W(X,t) = U(X,t) - \psi(x,t).$$
(3.1)

Later on, in order to take advantage of a possible higher regularity of ψ , we will make a more refined construction. Since U solves (2.3), we have in \mathbb{Q}_1^+

$$\mathscr{L}_a W = \mathscr{L}_a U - \mathscr{L}_a \psi = y^a \tilde{F},$$

where we have let

$$\tilde{F}(X,t) = \tilde{F}(x,t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -(\partial_t - \Delta_x)\psi(x,t).$$

For later purposes it is important that we note here that the function \tilde{F} , being independent of the variable y, is automatically even in such variable. If we now assume that $\psi \in C_x^{1,1}$

and $\psi \in C_t^{0,1}$, then we clearly have $\tilde{F} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R})$. We thus see that the function W satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_{a}W = y^{a}\tilde{F} & \text{in } \mathbb{Q}_{1}^{+}, \\ \min\{W(x,0,t), -\partial_{y}^{a}W(x,0,t)\} = 0 & \text{on } Q_{1}. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

We next want to extend (3.2) to a problem in a strip \mathbb{S}_1^+ . Pick a cut-off function $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(B_1 \times$ (-1, 1)) of the type $\zeta(X) = \zeta_1(x)\zeta_2(y)$ with $0 \le \zeta_1, \zeta_2 \le 1$, and such that $\zeta_1 \equiv 1$ in $B_{3/4}$, $\zeta_2 \equiv 1$ in (-3/4, 3/4). Moreover we can choose ζ_1, ζ_2 such that ζ_1 is a function of |x| and ζ_2 is symmetric in y. We now let

$$V(X,t) = \zeta(X)W(X,t) = \zeta(X)(U(X,t) - \psi(x,t)).$$
(3.3)

Clearly, V is supported in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}_1^+}$. Since ζ is smooth and symmetric in y, the function V will satisfy on the thin set S_1 the same Neumann condition as W. Furthermore, we have $\zeta_y = O(|y|)$ near the thin set $\{y = 0\}$, which implies that $y^{-a} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla \zeta) = O(1)$ and $\zeta_{v}V_{v} = O(1)$ up to the thin set. Therefore, if we let

$$F \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \zeta \tilde{F} - V y^{-a} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla \zeta) - 2 \langle \nabla V, \nabla \zeta \rangle,$$

then $F \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ and V solves the problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_{a}V = y^{a}F & \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}, \\ \min\{V(x,0,t), -\partial_{y}^{a}V(x,0,t)\} = 0 & \text{on } S_{1}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Recalling now the minimal regularity assumptions imposed on the solutions of (2.3), we are ready to introduce a central class of solutions in this paper.

Definition 3.1 (Solutions in strips) Given a function for $F \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$, we say that $U \in$ $\mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ if:

- 1) U has bounded support;
- 2) $\nabla_x U, y^a U_y \in H^{\alpha, \alpha/2}(\mathbb{S}^+_1)$ for some $\alpha > 0$;
- 3) $U_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}_1^+);$
- 4) $y^{a} |\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2}, y^{-a} (y^{a} U_{y})^{2}_{y} \in L^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1});$ 5) U solves (3.4);

6)
$$(0,0) \in \Gamma_*(U) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \partial \{(x,t) \in S_1 \mid U(x,0,t) = 0, \ \partial_y^a U(x,0,t) = 0\}.$$

Suppose now the obstacle ψ in (2.3) is of class $H^{\ell,\ell/2}(Q_1)$ with $\ell = k + \gamma > 2, k \in \mathbb{N}$, $0 < \gamma \leq 1$. We then make the following more refined construction that takes advantage of the higher regularity of ψ . Let $q_k(x, t)$ be the parabolic Taylor polynomial of ψ at the origin of parabolic degree k. Then, we have

$$|\psi(x,t) - q_k(x,t)| \le C |(x,t)|^{\ell},$$

and more generally

$$|\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^j (\psi - q_k)| \le M |(x, t)|^{\ell - |\alpha| - 2j}, \tag{3.5}$$

for any multi-index α and $j \ge 0$ with $|\alpha| + 2j \le k$. We then extend the polynomial q_k into $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}$ as an *a*-caloric polynomial, even in y, with the help of the following lemma.

🖉 Springer

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{q}(x,0,t) = q(x,t), & (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \\ \tilde{q}(x,-y,t) = \tilde{q}(x,y,t), & (x,y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R} \\ \mathscr{L}_a \tilde{q} = 0, & in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Moreover, if q(x, t) is parabolically homogeneous of degree κ , then \tilde{q} has the same homogeneity.

Proof The proof is similar to that of Lemma 4.3 in [13] for the case a = 0 and Lemma 5.2 in [21] for the stationary case. For a given polynomial q(x, t), let

$$\tilde{q}(x, y, t) = \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k c_k (\Delta_x - \partial_t)^k q(x, t) y^{2k}, \quad \text{with } c_k = \prod_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{2i(2i - 2s)}, \ c_0 = 1.$$

Note that the sum above runs over a finite range of k, with 2k not exceeding the parabolic degree of q(x, t). It is clear that

$$\tilde{q}(x,0,t) = q(x,t)$$

and that \tilde{q} is even in y. Further, using that

$$\left(\partial_y^2 + \frac{a}{y}\partial_y\right)(c_k y^{2k}) = c_{k-1} y^{2(k-1)},$$

(with the agreement that $c_{-1} = 0$) it is straightforward to check that

$$\mathscr{L}_a \tilde{q}(X,t) = y^a (\partial_t - \Delta_x - \mathscr{B}_y^{(a)}) \tilde{q}(X,t) = 0.$$

Hence, \tilde{q} is the required *a*-caloric extension of *q*, even in *y*. We next show the uniqueness of such extension. By linearity of \mathcal{L}_a , it suffices to show that the only extension of q = 0 is $\tilde{q} = 0$. Note that for any such extension, both \tilde{q} and $\partial_y^a \tilde{q}$ vanish on $\{y = 0\}$. Now, from the strong unique continuation property (which follows by applying the arguments in Lemma 7.7 in [4]), we conclude that $\tilde{q} \equiv 0$.

Let now q_k be the parabolic Taylor polynomial of ψ of parabolic degree k, and \tilde{q}_k be the corresponding *a*-caloric extension as in Lemma 3.2. Consider

$$U_k = U - \tilde{q}_k(X, t), \quad \psi_k = \psi - q_k(x, t),$$

where U is as in (2.3). It is easy to see that U_k solves the thin obstacle problem with the thin obstacle ψ_k . With ζ a cut-off function as in (3.3), we now consider

$$V_k = \zeta(X)(U_k - \psi_k). \tag{3.7}$$

Then, V_k is a global solution to the Signorini problem (3.4), corresponding to a right-hand side F_k given by

$$F_k = \zeta(\Delta_x \psi_k - \partial_t \psi_k) - V_k |y|^{-a} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla \zeta) - 2 \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla \zeta \rangle.$$

Since $\zeta \equiv 1$ in a neighborhood of 0, from (3.5) we obtain that F_k satisfies when $\ell \geq 2$,

$$|F_k(X,t)| \le M|X,t)|^{\ell-2} \qquad \text{for } (X,t) \in \mathbb{S}_1^+.$$
(3.8)

🖉 Springer

If $\ell \geq 3$ we will also have

$$|\nabla_X F_k(X,t)| \le M |X,t|^{\ell-3} \qquad \text{for } (X,t) \in \mathbb{Q}_{1/2}^+.$$
(3.9)

For $\ell \ge 4$ we will gain

$$|\partial_t F_k(X,t)| \le M |X,t|^{\ell-4}$$
 for $(X,t) \in \mathbb{Q}_{1/2}^+$. (3.10)

Moreover, since $V_k(x, 0, t) = U(x, 0, t) - \psi(x, t)$ and $\partial_y^a V_k(x, 0, t) = \partial_y^a U(x, 0, t)$ in $Q_{1/2}$, it follows that $\Gamma_*(V_k) = \Gamma_*(U)$ in $Q_{1/2}$.

With the help of the monotonicity formulas that we prove in the next section, the growth estimates (3.8)–(3.10) will allow a finer classification of free boundary points.

4 Almgren-Poon type monotonicity formula

In this section we establish a monotonicity formula which plays an essential role in our classification of free boundary points. We consider a function $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$. In view of (3.4), this means in particular that U solves the equation

$$y^{a}\partial_{t}U - \operatorname{div}_{X}(y^{a}\nabla_{X}U) = y^{a}F \quad \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}.$$
(4.1)

We assume henceforth that the function F satisfies for some $\ell \geq 2$ and a constant C_{ℓ} ,

$$|F(X,t)| \le C_{\ell} |(X,t)|^{\ell-2} \quad \text{for every } (X,t) \in \mathbb{S}_1^+.$$

$$(4.2)$$

Recall that, when the obstacle is of class $H^{\ell,\ell/2}$, such assumption can be ensured by the reduction argument in Sect. 3, see (3.8). We also note that, because of the technical nature of the results in this section, some of the proofs are deferred to the appendix in Sect. 12.

For t < 0 we introduce the quantities

$$h(U,t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U(X,t)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,t) \, y^a dX, \tag{4.3}$$

$$d(U,t) = -t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |\nabla U(X,t)|^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,t) y^a dX, \tag{4.4}$$

and

$$i(U,t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U(X,t) Z U(X,t) \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,t) y^a dX, \tag{4.5}$$

where Z is the vector field in (2.21) above. Henceforth, we will routinely drop the indication of the variables (X, t) and of the (n + 1)-dimensional Lebesgue measure dX in all integrals involved. We will need the following result connecting d(U, t) and i(U, t). For the proof, see Sect. 12.

Lemma 4.1 *For* $t \in (-1, 0)$ *we have*

$$i(U,t) = d(U,t) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |t| U F \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} |t| U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$
(4.6)

$$H(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^0 h(U,t) dt = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt, \tag{4.7}$$

$$D(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^0 d(U,t) dt = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| |\nabla U|^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt, \tag{4.8}$$

and

$$I(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^{0} i(U,t)dt = \frac{1}{2r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} UZU \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$
(4.9)

We now define two initial *frequencies* of U that will each prove useful in the computations.

$$N(U,r) = 2\frac{I(U,r)}{H(U,r)}, \quad \tilde{N}(U,r) = 2\frac{D(U,r)}{H(U,r)}.$$
(4.10)

Remark 4.2 We remark that if $U \in \mathfrak{S}_0(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ is homogeneous of degree κ with respect to the dilations (2.20), then we have

$$N(U,r) = N(U,r) \equiv \kappa.$$

In fact, since $F \equiv 0$ we have I(U, r) = D(U, r) from Lemma 4.3. But then, keeping in mind that $ZU = \kappa U$, we find from (4.9)

$$I(U,r) = \frac{\kappa}{2}H(U,r).$$

This proves the claim.

Using Lemma 4.1 we immediately obtain the following alternative expression for I(U, r).

Lemma 4.3 One has for every $r \in (0, 1)$

$$I(U,r) = D(U,r) - \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt.$$

We now list two key results: the first-variation formulas for H(U, r) and I(U, r). Their proofs are given in Sect. 12.

Lemma 4.4 (First variation of the height) For a.e. $r \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$H'(U,r) = \frac{4}{r}I(U,r).$$

We observe that combining Lemma 4.4 with the former identity in (4.10), for every $r \in (0, 1)$ such that H(U, r) > 0 we can write

$$N(U,r) = \frac{rH'(U,r)}{2H(U,r)}.$$
(4.11)

We will need the following result.

Lemma 4.5 For every $r \in (0, 1)$ such that H(U, r) > 0, one has

$$1 + N(U, r) > 0.$$

🖄 Springer

Proof From (4.7) we have

$$\frac{d}{dr}\left(r^2H(U,r)\right) = \frac{d}{dr}\int_{-r^2}^0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt = 2r \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times \{-r^2\}} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX \ge 0.$$

If H(U, r) > 0, this gives

$$0 \le 2rH(U,r) + r^2H'(U,r) = 2rH(U,r)\left(1 + \frac{rH'(U,r)}{2H(U,r)}\right)$$
$$= 2rH(U,r)\left(1 + N(U,r)\right),$$

which implies the statement of the lemma.

For later use in the proof of Theorem 4.8 we also record the following notable consequence of the above computation

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} \times \{-r^2\}} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX = H(U, r) \left(1 + N(U, r)\right). \tag{4.12}$$

Lemma 4.6 (First variation of the energy) For a.e. $r \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$D'(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| (ZU) F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$

Combining Lemma 4.3 with Lemma 4.6 we immediately obtain the following result, see also Sect. 12.

Lemma 4.7 (First variation of the total energy) For a.e. $r \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$\begin{split} I'(U,r) &= \frac{1}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| (ZU) F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2r \int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a. \end{split}$$

With the statement of Lemmas 4.4 and 4.7 in place we now establish a basic monotonicity formula that plays a central role in our classification of free boundary points.

Theorem 4.8 (Monotonicity formula of Almgren-Poon type) Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with F satisfying (4.2). Then, for every $\sigma \in (0, 1)$ there exist a constant C > 0, depending on n, a, C_{ℓ} and σ , such that the function

$$r \mapsto \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{2} r e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}} \frac{d}{dr} \log \max\left\{ H(U,r), \ r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma} \right\} + 2(e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}} - 1),$$
(4.13)

is monotone nondecreasing on (0, 1). In particular, the following limit exists

$$\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,0^+) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{r \to 0^+} \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,r).$$

Proof We begin by introducing the set

$$E_{\ell,\sigma} = \{ r \in (0,1) \mid H(U,r) > r^{2\ell - 2 + 2\sigma} \}.$$

As it is well known by now, in order to prove the theorem it suffices to verify the monotonicity of the function $r \to \Phi_{\sigma}(U, r)$ in the set $E_{\ell,\sigma}$. In such set we have

$$\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,r) = \frac{1}{2}re^{Cr^{1-\sigma}}\frac{d}{dr}\log H(U,r) + 2(e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}}-1) = \frac{1}{2}re^{Cr^{1-\sigma}}\frac{H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} + 2(e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}}-1)$$
$$= e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}}(N(U,r)+2) - 2,$$

where in the last equality we have used (4.11). We now make the crucial observation that, thanks to Lemma 4.5, we can say that $r \to N(U, r) + 2 > 0$ in $E_{\ell,\sigma}$. Therefore, to complete the proof it suffices to show that we have in $E_{\ell,\sigma}$

$$\frac{d}{dr}\log\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,r)\geq 0.$$

Finally, this is equivalent to proving that for every $r \in E_{\ell,\sigma}$ we have

$$\frac{(N(U,r)+2)'}{N(U,r)+2} \ge -\bar{C}r^{-\sigma},$$
(4.14)

for some constant $\bar{C} > 0$ depending on n, a, C_{ℓ}, σ . Then, the thesis of the theorem will follow with $C = \bar{C}/(1 - \sigma) > 0$. We thus turn to proving (4.14).

Using the first equation in (4.10) we find

$$\begin{split} \frac{r^5}{2} H(U,r)^2 N'(U,r) &= r^5 H(U,r)^2 \frac{I'(U,r) H(U,r) - I(U,r) H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)^2} \\ &= r^5 \big(I'(U,r) H(U,r) - I(U,r) H'(U,r) \big) \\ &= r^5 H(U,r) \left(I'(U,r) - \frac{I(U,r) H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} \right) \\ &= r^5 H(U,r) \Big\{ \frac{1}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| (ZU) F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2r \int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- \frac{4}{r H(U,r)} I(U,r)^2 \Big\} \\ &= r^2 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU + |t|F)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - r^2 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- 2r^2 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| ZUF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2r^2 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| ZUF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ 2r^2 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2r^6 H(U,r) \int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} UZU \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2, \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we have used (4.9). We thus obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{r^5}{2} H(U,r)^2 N'(U,r) &= \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU + |t|F)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2 \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ 2r^4 \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{R}_r^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} UZU \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2. \end{split}$$

Cauchy-Schwarz inequality now gives

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U(ZU+|t|F)\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} \left(ZU+|t|F\right)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$

Substituting in the above we find

$$\begin{split} \frac{r^5}{2} H(U,r)^2 N'(U,r) &\geq \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U \left(ZU + |t|F \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2 - \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U ZU \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2 \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2 \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ 2r^4 \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U^2 \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{R}_r^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a. \end{split}$$

Expanding the first integral in the right-hand side of the latter inequality, and returning to the definitions of H(U, r) and I(U, r), we find

$$\begin{split} \frac{r^5}{2}H(U,r)^2N'(U,r) &\geq \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|UF\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^2 + 4r^2I(U,r)\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|UF\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &- r^2H(U,r)\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2F^2\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2r^2H(U,r)\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|UF\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ 2r^6H(U,r)\int_{\mathbb{R}_r^{n+1}\times\{-r^2\}} UF\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a. \end{split}$$

This gives

$$\begin{split} N'(U,r) &\geq \frac{4}{r^3} N(U,r) \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} - \frac{2}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} \\ &+ \frac{4}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} + 4r \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}_r^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} \\ &= \frac{4}{r^3} \left(N(U,r) + 1 \right) \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} - \frac{2}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} \\ &+ 4r \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)}. \end{split}$$

Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we find

$$N'(U,r) \ge -\frac{4}{r^2} \left(N(U,r)+1\right) \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} - \frac{2}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} - 4r \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)}.$$
(4.15)

To proceed, we note that for $r \in E_{\ell,\sigma}$ we have in particular H(U, r) > 0, and thus we are in the conditions of Lemma 4.5. In particular, we trivially infer from (4.12)

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+\times\{-r^2\}} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2} = \left(H(U,r)\left(1+N(U,r)\right)\right)^{1/2}$$
$$\leq H(U,r)^{1/2} \left(1+\frac{1}{2}N(U,r)\right).$$

Using this bound in (4.15) gives

$$\begin{split} N'(U,r) &\geq -\frac{4}{r^2} \left(N(U,r) + 1 \right) \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} - \frac{2}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)} \\ &- 2r \frac{\left(2 + N(U,r)\right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}}. \end{split}$$

This estimate implies

$$\begin{split} (2+N(U,r))' &\geq -(2+N(U,r)) \\ &\times \left[\frac{4}{r^2} \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} + 2r \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \times \{-r^2\}} F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} \right] \\ &- \frac{2}{r^3} \frac{\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)}. \end{split}$$

At this point we observe that (4.2), (2.22) and a simple rescaling argument imply

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+\times\{-r^2\}} F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX\right)^{1/2} \le Cr^{\ell-2},\tag{4.16}$$

where $C = \sqrt{C_{\ell} C_{n,a,\ell}}$, with

$$C_{n,a,\ell} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |(X,-1)|^{2(\ell-2)} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,-1) y^a dX.$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2} \le C r^{1+\ell}.\tag{4.17}$$

Now, if $r \in E_{\ell,\sigma}$ we have $H(U, r) > r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma}$ and thus from (4.16), (4.17), and the above estimate for (2 + N(U, r))', we find

$$(2 + N(U, r))' \ge -C'(2 + N(U, r))r^{-\sigma} - C''r^{1-2\sigma} \ge -\bar{C}(2 + N(U, r))r^{-\sigma}.$$

Since by Lemma 4.5 we know that 2 + N(U, r) > 0, this proves (4.14), thus completing the proof.

5 Gaussian estimates

In this section we establish some uniform second derivative estimates in Gaussian spaces that play a crucial role in the blowup analysis in Sect. 6.

Lemma 5.1 Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$, with $F, F_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$. Then, for any $0 < \rho < 1$, there exists a constant $C(n, \rho) > 0$ such that the following estimates hold:

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t| |\nabla U|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \leq C(n, a, \rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} F^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a},$$
(5.1)

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} (|\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2} + U_{t}^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \leq C(n, a, \rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} F^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}.$$
(5.2)

Proof We closely follow the ideas in Appendix A in [13] and in [4]. In the rest of the proof, whenever we refer to the weak formulation of (4.1) we mean that, given $\eta \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-1,0), y^a dX dt)$ with $\eta(\cdot, t)$ compactly supported in \mathbb{B}^+_R , for some R > 0 independent of $t \in (-1,0)$, we have for all $0 < \delta < r < 1$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \left(\langle \nabla U, \nabla \eta \rangle + U_t \eta + F U \eta \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = - \int_{S_r - S_{\delta}} U \partial_y^a U \eta \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$
(5.3)

Having clarified this, we divide the proof into four steps.

Step 1: Let $0 < \rho < 1$ be fixed. We first establish (5.1), which represents a Caccioppoli type energy estimate in Gaussian space. We begin by noting that, since U is in $\mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$, there exists R > 0 such that $U(\cdot, t)$ is supported in \mathbb{B}_R for every $t \in (-1, 0)$. Let $\tilde{\rho}$ be such that $\rho < \tilde{\rho} < 1$, and fix $r \in [\rho, \tilde{\rho}]$. We fix a cut-off function $\hat{\tau}_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ such that $\hat{\tau}_0 \equiv 0$ outside \mathbb{B}_R . Corresponding to such $\hat{\tau}_0$, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we define a homogeneous function of degree k in \mathbb{S}_1 by letting

$$\tau_k = |t|^{k/2} \hat{\tau}_0(X/\sqrt{|t|}).$$
(5.4)

Using the test function

$$\eta = U\tau_1^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$$

in (5.3), for $0 < \delta < r$ sufficiently small we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \left(|\nabla U|^{2} \tau_{1}^{2} + U\left(\langle \nabla U, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle + U_{t}\right) \tau_{1}^{2} + 2U\tau_{1} \langle \nabla U, \nabla \tau_{1} \rangle + FU\tau_{1}^{2} \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} = -\int_{S_{r}-S_{\delta}} U \partial_{y}^{a} U \tau_{1}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} = 0.$$
(5.5)

In (5.5) we have used the hypothesis that $U\partial_y^a U = 0$ on the thin set $\{y = 0\}$, see (3.4), and the reproducing property (2.19). Since

$$Z(U^2) = 2UZU = 2U(\langle X, \nabla U \rangle + 2tU_t) = 4tU\left(\langle \nabla U, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle + U_t\right),$$

from (5.5) we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_\delta^+} \left(|\nabla U|^2 \tau_1^2 + \frac{1}{4t} Z(U^2) \tau_1^2 + 2U \tau_1 \langle \nabla U, \nabla \tau_1 \rangle + F U \tau_1^2 \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = 0.$$
(5.6)

Handling the term $Z(U^2)$ in (5.6) requires some care. For this, we argue as on p.92 in the Appendix of [13], making the change of variables $t = -\lambda^2$, $X = \lambda Y$, and exploiting the homogeneity of $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$ and of τ_1 . After some work, we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \frac{1}{4t} Z(U^{2}) \tau_{1}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \geq -r^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1}} U(\cdot, -r^{2})^{2} \hat{\tau}_{0}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(\cdot, -r^{2}) y^{a}.$$
(5.7)

From (5.6), (5.7) and Young's inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} |\nabla U|^2 \tau_1^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a
\leq C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1}} U(\cdot, -r^2)^2 \hat{\tau}_0^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(\cdot, -r^2) y^a + \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} [U^2(\tau_0^4 + |\nabla \tau_1|^2) + F^2|t|^2] \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right).$$
(5.8)

Integrating (5.8) with respect to $r \in [\rho, \tilde{\rho}]$, then letting the support of $\hat{\tau}_0$ sweep \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , and $\delta \to 0$, we conclude that the estimate (5.1) holds.

Step 2: We turn our attention to the proof of (5.2). We begin with the following second derivative estimate for tangential derivatives

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} |\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \leq C(n, a, \rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} F^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}.$$
(5.9)

With ρ , $\tilde{\rho}$, r, δ as in *Step 1*, for a given $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, we also let

$$\eta = (|U_{x_i}| - \varepsilon)^+ \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a, \tag{5.10}$$

where τ_2 corresponds to the choice k = 2 in (5.4). Noting that the set $A^{\varepsilon} = \{|U_{x_i}| > \varepsilon\} \cap \{y = 0\}$ is compactly contained in the interior of the set $\{\partial_y^a U = 0\}$, a standard difference quotient argument as in [4, Sect. 5] allows us to assert that ∇U_{x_i} , $\partial_t U_{x_i} \in L^2_{loc}(\cdot, y^a dX dt)$ up to $\{y = 0\}$ in A_{ε} (we stress that here we crucially use the fact that $F_t \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^+_1)$). Once we know this, with η as in (5.10), we use η_{x_i} as a test function in the weak formulation (5.3). Integrating by parts with respect to x_i and by a limiting type argument (i.e., by first integrating in the region $\{y > \beta\}$, and then letting $\beta \to 0$), we obtain

$$\int_{(\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+})\cap B^{\varepsilon}} \left(|\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2} \tau_{2}^{2} + V_{\varepsilon} \langle \nabla U_{x_{i}}, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle \tau_{2}^{2} \\
+ \partial_{t} U_{x_{i}} V_{\varepsilon} \tau_{2}^{2} + 2V_{\varepsilon} \tau_{2} \langle \nabla U_{x_{i}}, \nabla \tau_{2} \rangle \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\
+ \int_{(\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+})\cap B^{\varepsilon}} y^{a} \left(F(V_{\varepsilon})_{x_{i}} \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} + 2FV_{\varepsilon} \tau_{2} (\tau_{2})_{x_{i}} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} + FV_{\varepsilon} \tau_{2}^{2} (\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a})_{x_{i}} \right) \\
- \int_{(S_{r}-S_{\delta})\cap A^{\varepsilon}} (\partial_{y}^{a} U)_{x_{i}} (|U_{x_{i}}| - \varepsilon)^{+} \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} = 0,$$
(5.11)

🖄 Springer

where $V_{\varepsilon} = (|U_{x_i}| - \varepsilon)^+$ and $B^{\varepsilon} = \{(X, t) | |U_{x_i}| > \varepsilon\}$, and in the second term in the first integral in the left-hand side we have used (2.19). We stress that η_{x_i} is not a legitimate test function. Nevertheless, the computation in (5.11) can be justified by using as a test function difference quotients of the form

$$\eta_{h,i} = \frac{\eta(X + he_i) - \eta(X)}{h}$$

instead of η_{x_i} , and then finally let $h \to 0$. We also note that for the difference quotients the integration by parts with respect to x_i is equivalently replaced by an identity of the following type

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} f_{h,i} g y^a dX = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} f g_{-h,i} y^a dX,$$

which holds for arbitrary compactly supported functions f, g and is a consequence of a standard change of variable formula. In (5.11), we have also used that, since $\partial_y^a U = 0$ on the set A_{ε} , we have $(\partial_y^a U)_{x_i} = 0$ on A_{ε} . Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ in (5.11), we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \left(|\nabla U_{x_i}|^2 \tau_2^2 + \frac{1}{4t} Z(U_{x_i}^2) \tau_2^2 + 2U_{x_i} \langle \nabla U_{x_i}, \nabla \tau_2 \rangle \tau_2 \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \left(|F| |U_{x_i x_i}| \tau_2^2 + 2F |U_{x_i}| \tau_2 |\nabla \tau_2| + F |U_{x_i}| \tau_2^2 \left| \frac{X}{2t} \right| \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a. \quad (5.12)$$

To handle the term with $Z(U_{x_i}^2)$ we argue again as in the opening of page 92 in [13], obtaining

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \frac{1}{4t} Z(U_{x_{i}}^{2}) \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \geq -r^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1}} U_{x_{i}}(\cdot, -r^{2})^{2} \tau_{1}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(\cdot, -r^{2}) y^{a}.$$
(5.13)

The integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} F|U_{x_i}|\tau_2^2 \left|\frac{X}{2t}\right| \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a$$

in the right-hand side of (5.12) can be estimated by Young's inequality as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}}F|U_{x_{i}}|\tau_{2}^{2}\left|\frac{X}{2t}\right|\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}\\ &\leq C_{1}\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}}|F|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}+C_{2}\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}}|U_{x_{i}}|^{2}\frac{|X|^{2}}{2|t|}\tau_{1}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}\\ &\leq C_{3}\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}}|F|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}+C_{4}\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}}\left(|\nabla U|^{2}(|\nabla\tau_{2}|^{2}+|\tau_{1}|^{2})+|\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2}\right)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}. \end{split}$$

$$(5.14)$$

In the last step we have used the fact that the following inequality holds at every time level: for any $v \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX)$ one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} v^2 \frac{|X|^2}{|t|} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} (v^2 + |t| |\nabla v|^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$
(5.15)

We mention that (5.15) corresponds to the inequality (8.17) in [4].

Springer

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \left(|F||U_{x_{i}x_{i}}|\tau_{2}^{2}+2F|U_{x_{i}}|\tau_{2}|\nabla\tau_{2}|\right)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a} \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \left(\frac{1}{4}|\nabla U_{x_{i}}|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2}+C|F|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2}+|\nabla U|^{2}|\nabla\tau_{2}|^{2}\right)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}.$$
(5.16)

Combining the estimates (5.14)–(5.16), and subtracting from the left-hand side the integral

$$\frac{1}{4}\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+}|\nabla U_{x_i}|^2\tau_2^2\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a,$$

we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} |\nabla U_{x_i}|^2 \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \leq C \bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1}} U_{x_i}(\cdot, -r^2)^2 \tau_1^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(\cdot, -r^2) y^a + \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \big(|F|^2 \tau_2^2 + |\nabla U|^2 (|\nabla \tau_2|^2 + \tau_1^2) \big) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \bigg).$$
(5.17)

As before, we now integrate over $r \in [\rho, \tilde{\rho}]$, let the support of $\hat{\tau}_0$ exhaust the whole of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , then let $\delta \to 0$, and also using the previously established estimate (5.1), we finally deduce that (5.9) holds.

Step 3: Our next objective is to establish the following second derivative estimate in the normal direction:

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} ((y^{a}U_{y})_{y})^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \leq C(n, a, \rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} F^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}.$$
(5.18)

For this we make use of the following conjugate equation which is satisfied in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-1, 0)$ by $w = y^a U_y$

$$\operatorname{div}(y^{-a}\nabla w) - y^{-a}w_t = F_y.$$
(5.19)

For a given $\varepsilon > 0$, we consider the test function

$$\eta = (y^a U_y - \varepsilon)^+ \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a,$$

in the weak formulation of (5.19). We note that since $\partial_y^a U \le 0$ on the thin set $\{y = 0\}$, thanks to the Hölder continuity of $y^a U_y$ up to $\{y = 0\}$, the function η is compactly supported in the region $\{y > 0\}$, and therefore it is a legitimate test function. With $w = y^a U_y$, we thus have

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \left(|\nabla(w-\varepsilon)^{+}|^{2} \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + \tau_{2}^{2} (w-\varepsilon)^{+} \langle \nabla w, \nabla \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} \rangle y^{-a} + (w-\varepsilon)^{+} w_{t} \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + 2 \tau_{2} (w-\varepsilon)^{+} \langle \nabla w, \nabla \tau_{2} \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + F \partial_{y} (w-\varepsilon)^{+} \tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} + 2F (w-\varepsilon)^{+} \tau_{2} \partial_{y} \tau_{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} + F (w-\varepsilon)^{+} \tau_{2}^{2} \frac{y}{2t} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} \right) = 0.$$

$$(5.20)$$

Similarly to (5.13), we now obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} [\tau_{2}^{2}(w-\varepsilon)^{+}\langle \nabla w, \nabla \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}\rangle y^{-a} + (w-\varepsilon)^{+}w_{t}\tau_{2}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}] \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \frac{1}{4t} Z(((w-\varepsilon)^{+})^{2})\tau_{2}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{-a} \\ &\geq -r^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1}} (w-\varepsilon)_{+}^{2}(\cdot, -r^{2})\tau_{1}^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(\cdot, -r^{2})y^{-a}. \end{split}$$
(5.21)

Using Young's inequality, we estimate

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} y^{-a} 2\tau_2 (w - \varepsilon)^+ \langle \nabla w, \nabla \tau_2 \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + F \partial_y (w - \varepsilon)^+ \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + 2F (w - \varepsilon)^+ \tau_2 \partial_y \tau_2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \frac{1}{4} \tau_2^2 |\nabla (w - \varepsilon)^+|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a} + C (((w - \varepsilon)^+)^2 |\nabla \tau_2|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a} + F^2 \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a}). \end{split}$$

Finally, the last term in the left-hand side of (5.20) is estimated in the following way. First, Young's inequality (and the trivial observation that $|y| \le |X|$) gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} F(w - \varepsilon)^+ \tau_2^2 \frac{y}{2t} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$$

$$\leq c_0^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} t F^2 \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + c_0 \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} ((w - \varepsilon)^+)^2 \tau_1^2 \frac{|X|^2}{2t} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a}), \quad (5.22)$$

where c_0 can be chosen arbitrarily small. To control the second integral in the right-hand side of (5.22) we argue similarly to (5.15), but with *a* replaced by -a. Inserting the ensuing estimate in (5.22), the resulting inequality becomes

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} F(w-\varepsilon)^{+}\tau_{2}^{2} \frac{y}{2t} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}$$

$$\leq C_{1} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} F^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} + C_{1}c_{0} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}-\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} \left(|\nabla(w-\varepsilon)^{+}|^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + ((w-\varepsilon)^{+})^{2} \tau_{1}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + ((w-\varepsilon)^{+})^{2} \tau_{1}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \right),$$
(5.23)

for some constant $C_1 > 0$. At this point we choose c_0 small enough such that $C_1c_0 < \frac{1}{4}$. Combining the estimates (5.21) and (5.23), and then subtracting the integral

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} |\nabla(w - \varepsilon)^+|^2 \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a}$$

from the left hand side of (5.20), we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} |t|^2 |\nabla(w - \varepsilon)^+|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a} \\ &\leq C \bigg\{ \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ - \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+} \bigg[((w - \varepsilon)^+)^2 (\tau_1^2 + |t| |\nabla \tau_1|^2 + |\nabla \tau_2|^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a} \bigg] + |t|^2 F^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ r^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1}} (w - \varepsilon)^2_+ (\cdot, -r^2) \tau_1^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a (\cdot, -r^2) y^{-a} \bigg\}. \end{split}$$

Integrating again in $r \in [\rho, \tilde{\rho}]$, by a limiting argument and finally letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we deduce the following estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} |\nabla w^{+}|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \leq C(n,\rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t| w^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + |t|^{2} F^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a},$$
(5.24)

where $\rho < \tilde{\rho} < 1$.

As a next step, we obtain an estimate similar to (5.24) for ∇w^- in $L^2(\cdot, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^{-a} dX dt)$. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, we consider the function $v_{\varepsilon} = (w + \varepsilon)^-$, where $w = y^a U_y$ as before. Let $C^{\varepsilon} = \sup v_{\varepsilon}$, and denote by \tilde{C}^{ε} the reflected portion of C^{ε} across $\{y = 0\}$. Since $U\partial_y^a U = 0$ on $\{y = 0\}$, by the continuity of $y^a U_y$ up to $\{y = 0\}$, we see that $C^{\varepsilon} \cap \{y = 0\}$ is contained in the interior of $\{(x, 0) \mid U(x, 0) = 0\}$. Therefore near $C^{\varepsilon} \cap \{y = 0\}$, if U is oddly reflected, then the extended U solves the following equation in $D^{\varepsilon} = C^{\varepsilon} \cup \tilde{C}^{\varepsilon}$

$$\operatorname{div}(|y|^a \nabla U) - |y|^a U_t = |y|^a \tilde{F},$$

where \tilde{F} is the odd extension of F across $\{y = 0\}$. Therefore, in the set D^{ε} the function $v = |y|^a U_y$ is an even extension of w across $\{y = 0\}$, and it solves the following conjugate equation in D^{ε}

$$\operatorname{div}(|y|^{-a}\nabla v) - |y|^{-a}v_t = \tilde{F}_y.$$
(5.25)

Using the test function

$$\eta = (w + \varepsilon)^{-} \tau_2^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$$

in the weak formulation of (5.25), arguing as in (5.20)–(5.24), and finally letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we obtain the following estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} |\nabla w^{-}|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \leq C(n,\rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} |t| w^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} + |t|^{2} F^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}.$$
(5.26)

By combining (5.24) and (5.26), and using the previously established estimate (5.1), we finally have

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} ((y^{a}U_{y})_{y})^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t|^{2} |\nabla w|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{-a} \leq C(n,\rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} F^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a},$$

which completes the proof of (5.18).

Step 4: At this point, using the equation satisfied by U, the corresponding estimate for U_t claimed in (5.2) follows from (5.9) and (5.18). This finishes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 5.2 We note that assumption that $||F_t||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^+_1)}$ be finite in Lemma 5.1 is not restrictive since it can always be achieved if the obstacle is sufficiently regular.

We also need the following estimate in our blowup analysis in Sect. 6.

Lemma 5.3 For i = 1, 2, let $U_i \in \mathfrak{S}_{F_i}(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with $F_i \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$. Then, for any $0 < \rho < 1$, one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\rho}^{+}} |t| |\nabla (U_{1} - U_{2})|^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \le C(n, a, \rho) \int_{\mathbb{S}_{1}^{+}} (U^{2} + |t|^{2} (F_{1} - F_{2})^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}$$
(5.27)

Springer

Proof First, we even reflect U_1 , F_1 , U_2 , F_2 across $\{y = 0\}$. Consider now $U = U_1 - U_2$. We claim that the following holds in \mathbb{S}_1 ,

$$\mathscr{L}_{a}U^{+} \leq |y|^{a}(F_{1} - F_{2})^{+}, \quad \mathscr{L}_{a}U^{-} \leq |y|^{a}(F_{1} - F_{2})^{-}.$$
 (5.28)

We note that it is clear that the differential inequalities (5.28) are respectively satisfied in \mathbb{S}_1^+ and \mathbb{S}_1^- . Therefore, we only need to show the inequality near a point $(x_0, 0, t_0) \in Q_{3/4}$. Suppose $U(x_0, 0, t_0) > 0$. Since it must necessarily be $U_1(x_0, 0, t_0) > 0$, we infer the existence of a sufficiently small $\delta > 0$, such that $\partial_y^a U_1 \equiv 0$ in $Q_\delta(x_0, 0, t_0)$. This implies that

$$\mathscr{L}_a U_1 = |y|^a F_1$$

in $\mathbb{Q}_{\delta}(x_0, 0, t_0)$. On the other hand,

$$\mathscr{L}_a U_2 \ge |y|^a F_2$$

Therefore we obtain

$$\mathscr{L}_a U \le |y|^a (F_1 - F_2)$$

in $\mathbb{Q}_{\delta}(x_0, 0, t_0)$. Thus

$$\mathscr{L}_a U \le |y|^a (F_1 - F_2)^+$$

in $\mathbb{Q}_{3/4} \cap \{U > 0\}$. Now by using a standard argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.1 in [25], we can deduce that

$$\mathscr{L}_a U^+ \le |\mathbf{y}|^a (F_1 - F_2)^+$$

in $\mathbb{Q}_{3/4}$ and hence in \mathbb{S}_1 . The argument for U^- is similar and thus we can assert that (5.28) holds. Now given the validity of (5.28), we can argue as in Step 1 in the proof of Lemma 5.1 (using $\eta = U^{\pm} \tau_1^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$ as a test function in the weak formulation for U^{\pm}) to conclude that the weighted Caccioppoli type estimate (5.27) holds.

6 Existence and homogeneity of blowups

Throughout this section, we assume that $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$, where *F* satisfies (4.2) for some $\ell \geq 2$. Towards the end of the section, we will need $\ell \geq 4$ and require the following additional bounds to hold for and some positive constant C_ℓ

$$|\nabla_X F(X,t)| \le C_\ell |(X,t)|^{\ell-3}, \qquad \text{for } (X,t) \in \mathbb{Q}^+_{1/2}$$
(6.1)

$$|\partial_t F(X,t)| \le C_\ell |(X,t)|^{\ell-4} \qquad \text{for } (X,t) \in \mathbb{Q}^+_{1/2}.$$
(6.2)

We note that (6.1), (6.2) are fulfilled by assuming that the obstacle be of class $H^{\ell,\ell/2}$, see (3.9), (3.10) at the end of Sect. 3. We now state our first result.

Lemma 6.1 Under assumptions of Theorem 4.8, fix $\sigma \in (0, 1)$. Then, one has

$$\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,0^+) = \kappa \le \ell - 1 + \sigma. \tag{6.3}$$

Furthermore, if $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$, then there exists $r_0 = r_0(U) > 0$ such that for every $r \in (0, r_0)$ one has

$$H(U,r) \ge r^{2\ell - 2 + 2\sigma}.\tag{6.4}$$

In particular, we have in such case

$$\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,0^+) = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{rH'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} = \lim_{r \to 0^+} N(U,r) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \tilde{N}(U,r).$$
(6.5)

Proof The proof of (6.3) and (6.4) follows the lines of that of Lemma 7.1 in [13] in the case a = 0, and we thus refer the reader to that source for details. In order to establish (6.5) we note explicitly that from (4.8), (4.10) and Lemma 4.3, we have

$$N(U,r) = \tilde{N}(U,r) - \frac{\frac{2}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| UF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a}{H(U,r)}.$$

Keeping in mind that the hypothesis (4.2) implies (4.17), Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality gives

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\left|\frac{1}{r^2}\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|UF\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right|}{H(U,r)} &\leq \frac{1}{r} \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2}}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} \\ &\leq C \frac{r^\ell}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} \leq C \frac{r^\ell}{r^{\ell-1+\sigma}} = Cr^{1-\sigma} \to 0, \end{aligned}$$

as $r \to 0^+$. This shows that

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} N(U, r) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \bar{N}(U, r).$$

Later in the paper we will need to work with two different families of rescalings, which we now introduce.

Definition 6.2 With δ_{λ} as in (2.20) we define the *parabolic Almgren rescalings* of U as

$$U_r = \frac{U \circ \delta_r}{H(U,r)^{1/2}}.$$
(6.6)

For $\kappa > 0$ we define the κ -homogeneous rescalings of U as

$$\tilde{U}_r = \frac{U \circ \delta_r}{r^{\kappa}}.$$
(6.7)

We note that the rescaled functions U_r solve

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_{a}U_{r} = |y|^{a}F_{r} & \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{1}^{+} \cup \mathbb{S}_{1}^{-}, \\ \min\{U_{r}(x,0,t), -\partial_{y}^{a}U(x,0,t)\} = 0 & \text{on } S_{1}, \\ U_{r}(x,-y,t) = U_{r}(x,y,t), & \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{1}, \end{cases}$$
(6.8)

where

$$F_r = \frac{r^2 F(rX, r^2 t)}{H(U, r)^{1/2}}.$$
(6.9)

We have the following key result, whose elementary verification we leave to the reader.

Proposition 6.3 *For every* $r, \rho > 0$ *one has*

$$H(U, r\rho) = H(U \circ \delta_r, \rho), \quad D(U, r\rho) = D(U \circ \delta_r, \rho), \quad N(U, r\rho) = N(U \circ \delta_r, \rho).$$
(6.10)

In particular, we have for the parabolic Almgren rescalings

$$N(U_r, \rho) = N(U, r\rho). \tag{6.11}$$

The Almgren rescalings are tailor-made for Theorem 4.8, whereas the homogeneous rescalings are the appropriate ones for the applications of the Weiss and Monneau type monotonicity formulas in Theorems 10.1 and 10.5 below. Proposition 6.3 implies in particular that

$$H(U_r, 1) = 1,$$

and, more generally,

$$H(U_r, \rho) = \frac{H(U, \rho r)}{H(U, r)}.$$

The following lemma plays a key role in our blowup analysis. It will ensure that the blow up limit U_0 is bounded on sets of the type $\mathbb{B}^+_A \times (-1, 0]$ for any A > 0.

Lemma 6.4 Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$, where F satisfies (4.2) for some $\ell \geq 2$. Given A > 0 and 0 < r < 1, we have

$$\|U\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}^{+}_{Ar}\times(-r^{2}/4,0))} \le CH(U,r)^{1/2} + Cr^{\ell},$$
(6.12)

for some universal C > 0 depending also on ℓ , A.

Proof It suffices to prove the claim for U^+ and U^- since, after even reflection in y, both of them satisfy for any r > 0,

$$\mathscr{L}_a V \le |y|^a \|F\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{Q}_r)}$$
 in \mathbb{Q}_r .

Let then V denote either U^+ or U^- . Since F satisfies (4.2) with some constant C_ℓ , we let

$$\tilde{V} = \begin{cases} V + C_0 (|X|^2 - t)^{\ell/2}, & \text{when } \ell > 2, \\ V - C_0 t, & \text{when } \ell = 2, \end{cases}$$

where $C_0 = C_0(n, \gamma, a, \ell)$ is so chosen that $\mathscr{L}_a \tilde{V} \leq 0$. A simple calculation shows that this can be ensured. We then note that the following holds

$$H(\tilde{V},r)^{1/2} \le H(U,r)^{1/2} + C_0 \left(\frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (|X|^2 + |t|)^{\ell} \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a\right)^{1/2} \le H(U,r)^{1/2} + Cr^{\ell},$$

where in the last inequality we have used a change of variable and the homogeneity property of $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$. Now, given $(X_0, t_0) = (x_0, y_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{B}^+_{Ar} \times (-r^2/4, 0)$, and using that \tilde{V} has a polynomial growth at infinity, we can adapt a variational argument in [12] to deduce the following sub-mean value estimate

$$\tilde{V}(X_0, t_0) \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} V(x, y, t_0 + s_0) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, X_0, s_0) y^a dX,$$
(6.13)

where $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, X_0, s_0) = \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0)$, see (2.10) and (2.16), and $s_0 < t_0 < 0$.

Indeed, (6.13) can be justified as follows. Let τ_R be a cut-off of the type $\tau_R(X) = \tau_R^1(x)\tau_R^2(y)$, with $\tau_R^1 \equiv 1$ in B_R and vanishing outside B_{2R} , and $\tau_R^2 \equiv 1$ in (-R, R) and vanishing outside (-2R, 2R). Then, for t < 0 the function $w = \tilde{V}\tau_R$ solves

$$\mathscr{L}_a w \le C y^a (|\nabla \widetilde{V}| |\nabla \tau_R| + |\widetilde{V}| (|\nabla^2 \tau_R| + |\nabla \tau_R|)), \tag{6.14}$$

🖄 Springer

for some universal *C* independent of *R*, provided R > 1. Note that it is not restrictive to assume *R* large, since we eventually want to let $R \to \infty$. Fix $t_0 < 0$, and for a given $s_0 < 0$, define for $s \le \sqrt{-s_0}$,

$$\phi(s) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} w(X, t_0 + s_0 + s^2) \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - s^2) y^a dX.$$

Since w is Lipschitz in s, $\phi(s)$ is absolutely continuous. Therefore, differentiating under the integral sign, one has for a.e. s,

$$\phi'(s) = 2s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \left(\partial_t w(X, t_0 + s_0 + s^2) \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - s^2) - w \partial_t \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - s^2) \right) y^a$$
(6.15)

We now integrate by parts in the second integral in (6.15). Using the properties

$$\begin{cases} y^a \partial_t \mathscr{G}_a = \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla \mathscr{G}_a), \\ \partial_y^a \mathscr{G}_a = 0 \text{ on } y = 0, \end{cases}$$
(6.16)

and (6.14), we deduce

$$\phi'(s) \le 2s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} G_R \,\mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - s^2) y^a,$$

where we have let $G_R = 2(|\nabla \tilde{V}| |\nabla \tau_R| + |\tilde{V}| |\nabla^2 \tau_R|)$. Note that G_R is supported in the region where $|X| \ge R$. We next integrate the latter inequality on the interval (0, t), finding

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} w(X, t_0 + s_0 + t^2) \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - t^2) y^a
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} w(X, t_0 + s_0) \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0) y^a
+ \int_0^{t^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} G_R(X, t_0 + s_0 + s) \mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, -s_0 - s) y^a ds.$$
(6.17)

At this point we let $t \to \sqrt{-s_0}$ in (6.17). Using the Dirac property of \mathscr{G}_a and changing the time variable from $t_0 + s_0 + s$ to s, we obtain

$$w(X_{0}, t_{0}) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} w(X, t_{0} + s_{0}) \mathscr{G}_{a}(X, X_{0}, -s_{0}) y^{a} + \int_{t_{0} + s_{0}}^{t_{0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} G_{R}(X, s) \mathscr{G}_{a}(X, X_{0}, t_{0} - s) y^{a} dX ds.$$

$$(6.18)$$

To proceed further, with t_0 , s_0 as in (6.18) above, we now fix b > 0 small enough such that $-1/2 < t_0 < -b$ and $s_0 < -b$. Given A > 0, let X_0 be such that $|X_0| \le A$. Since we eventually want to let $R \to \infty$ in (6.18), we assume that R be sufficiently large, say $R \ge 100A + 1$. We make the following:

Claim 6.5 For $-1/2 < t_0 < -b < 0$ and $|X_0| \le A$, there is C = C(n, b, A) > 0 such that for $R \ge 100A + 1$ we have

$$\mathscr{G}_{a}(X, X_{0}, t_{0} - s) \leq \begin{cases} C \mathscr{G}_{a}(X, s), & \text{if } s < t_{0}, t_{0} - s < -s/8, |X| \ge R, \\ C \overline{\mathscr{G}_{a}}(X, s), & C |X| = s \end{cases}$$
(a)

$$\int C \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, X_0, t_0 - s) \leq \int C \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, s) e^{C|X|}, \quad \text{if } s < t_0, t_0 - s > -s/8.$$
(b)

To establish the claim, we recall that $\mathscr{G}_a(X, X_0, t_0 - s) = p(x, x_0, t_0 - s)p^{(a)}(y, y_0, t_0 - s)$. Keeping in mind the representation (2.7) of $p^{(a)}$, and the asymptotic behavior of the modified Bessel function $I_{\frac{a-1}{2}}$ (see e.g. (5.11.10) and (5.16.14) in [22]), we note that for any $a \in (-1, 1)$, there exist universal constants C(a), c(a) > 0, such that

$$\begin{cases} I_{\frac{a-1}{2}}(z) \le C(a)z^{-1/2}e^z, \quad z > c(a), \\ I_{\frac{a-1}{2}}(z) \le C(a)z^{\frac{a-1}{2}}, \quad 0 < z < c(a). \end{cases}$$
(6.19)

Moreover, it is easy to check that for $|X| \ge 100A + 1$ and $|X_0| \le A$ one has

$$|X - X_0|^2 \ge \frac{1}{2} + 2yy_0 + \frac{|X|^2}{8}.$$
(6.20)

We also note from (2.7) that

$$p^{(a)}(y, y_0, t_0 - s) = e^{-\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0 - s)}} (2(t_0 - s))^{-\frac{a+1}{2}} \left(\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0 - s)}\right)^{-\frac{a-1}{2}} \times I_{\frac{a-1}{2}} \left(\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0 - s)}\right) e^{-\frac{(y-y_0)^2}{4(t_0 - s)}}.$$
(6.21)

We now subdivide the proof of both (a) and (b) in Claim 6.5 into two cases: 1) $\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0-s)} < c(a)$; and, 2) $\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0-s)} \ge c(a)$. In case 1) we have from the second inequality in (6.19): $\left(\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0-s)}\right)^{-\frac{a-1}{2}} I_{\frac{a-1}{2}} \le C(a)$. Substituting this information in (6.21), using (6.20) and the fact that s < -b, we find

$$\mathcal{G}_{a}(X, X_{0}, t_{0} - s) \leq \frac{C}{(t_{0} - s)^{\frac{n+1+a}{2}}} e^{-\frac{|X - X_{0}|^{2}}{4(t_{0} - s)}}$$
$$\leq \frac{C(n, b, A)}{(-s)^{\frac{n+1+a}{2}}(t_{0} - s)^{\frac{n+1+a}{2}}} e^{-\frac{1}{8(t_{0} - s)}} e^{-\frac{|X|^{2}}{32(t_{0} - s)}}.$$

Note that in the second inequality above, we have also used the fact that $e^{-\frac{yy_0}{2(t_0-s)}} \le 1$. From the latter estimate the desired bound in case (a) of Claim 6.5 follows using that $t_0 - s < -s/8$, and that $r \mapsto r^{-\frac{n+1+a}{2}}e^{-1/r}$ is uniformly bounded on $[0, \infty)$. In case 2), using (6.21) and the first inequality in (6.19), we obtain

$$\mathscr{G}_{a}(X, X_{0}, t_{0} - s) \leq \frac{C(n, b, A)}{(-s)^{\frac{n+a+1}{2}} (t_{0} - s)^{\frac{n+1+a}{2}}} e^{-\frac{1}{8(t_{0} - s)}} e^{-\frac{|X|^{2}}{32(t_{0} - s)}} \left(\frac{yy_{0}}{2(t_{0} - s)}\right)^{-a/2} e^{-\frac{yy_{0}}{2(t_{0} - s)}},$$

and the desired bound (a) follows again by additionally using that $r \mapsto r^{-a/2}e^{-r}$ is uniformly bounded in the interval $[c(a), \infty)$.

To prove the estimate for (b) we argue similarly to (a), see also the proof of the second part of [13, Claim 7.8]. At this point, since \tilde{V} , $\nabla \tilde{V}$ have at most polynomial growth at infinity, by letting $R \to \infty$ and using the bounds in case (a) of Claim 6.5, we deduce that the second integral in (6.18) goes to 0. Also, using the bounds in case (b) of Claim 6.5 and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we can assert that the first integral in (6.18) converges to the corresponding integral in the right-hand side of (6.13) as $R \to \infty$. Consequently, the sub-mean value estimate claimed in (6.13) holds.

Now let $(X_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{B}_{Ar}^+ \times (-r^2/4, 0)$. Let also $s_0 \in (-r^2/2, -r^2/4]$. Then by using the fact that $|y_0|, |x_0| \le Ar, |s_0|, |t_0 + s_0| \sim r^2$ and also that $|s_0| < |t_0 + s_0| < 4|s_0|$, we can use

the representation as in (6.21) and by using the asymptotics in (6.19) (and also by dividing the considerations into two cases as in the proof of Claim 6.5) we can assert that the following estimate holds

$$p(x, x_0, -s_0) p^{(a)}(y, y_0, -s_0) \le C_0 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, t_0 + s_0) e^{\frac{(x, x_0)}{2|t_0 + s_0|}} e^{\frac{C_4 yy_0}{2|t_0 + s_0|}}$$
(6.22)

where C_4 is universal and depends also on a.

Therefore by using the estimate (6.22) in the submean value inequality (6.13), we obtain by letting $t_0 + s_0 = s$, that the following inequality holds,

$$\tilde{V}(X_0, t_0) \le C_5 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \tilde{V}(X, s) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, s) e^{\frac{\langle X, X_0 \rangle}{2|s|}} e^{\frac{C_4 Y Y_0}{2|s|}} y^a$$

Then by using Cauchy-Schwartz, we obtain

$$\widetilde{V}(X_0, t_0) \leq C_5 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \widetilde{V}^2(x, y, s) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, s) y^a \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a e^{\frac{\langle x, x_0 \rangle}{|s|}} e^{\frac{\langle x, x_0 \rangle}{|s|}} y^a \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq C_7 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \widetilde{V}^2(X, s) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, s) y^a \right)^{1/2} e^{\frac{C_8 |X_0|^2}{|s|}}.$$
(6.23)

The last inequality above follows by multiplying and dividing the following integral

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a e^{\frac{\langle x,x_0\rangle}{|s|}}e^{\frac{C_4yy_0}{|s|}}y^a\right)^{1/2}$$

with $e^{-\frac{|x_0|^2}{s}}e^{-\frac{C_4^2|y_0|^2}{s}}$ and completing squares in the exponent, then by using Fubini and change of variables.

Now by using $|X_0| \leq Ar$ and $|s| \sim r^2$, we can deduce from (6.23) that the following estimate holds for some universal C_{10} ,

$$\tilde{V}(X_0, t_0) \le C_{10} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \tilde{V}^2(x, y, s) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, s) y^a \right)^{1/2}.$$

Subsequently, by integrating from $s \in (-r^2, -r^2/2)$ and applying the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality as in the proof of Lemma 9.3 in [13], we obtain

$$\tilde{V}(X_0, t_0) \leq C \left(\frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^{-r^2/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \tilde{V}^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq C H(\tilde{V}, r)^{1/2} \leq C H(U, r)^{1/2} + C r^{\ell}.$$
(6.24)

Since $(X_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{B}^+_{Ar} \times (-r^2/4, 0)$ is arbitrary, the conclusion of the lemma now follows from (6.24) and the expression of \tilde{V} in terms of *V*.

We also need the following two lemmas in our blowup analysis in the proof of Theorem 6.8.

Lemma 6.6 With κ as in Lemma 6.1, let κ' be such that $\kappa < \kappa' < \ell - 1 + \sigma$ and $H(U, r) \ge r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma}$. Then there exists $r_U > 0$ depending on κ', σ such that

$$\begin{cases} H(U_r, \rho) \ge \rho^{2\kappa'} & \text{for } 0 < \rho \le 1, 0 < r < r_U \\ H(U_r, R) \le R^{2\kappa'} & \text{for any } R \ge 1, 0 < r < \frac{r_U}{R} \end{cases}$$
(6.25)

🖉 Springer

Proof Since

$$2\kappa = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{rH'(U,r)}{H(U,r)},$$

there exists $r_0 > 0$ depending on U, κ' such that for $0 < r < r_U < r_0$ we have

$$\frac{H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} \le 2\frac{\kappa'}{r}.$$

Then, by integrating from ρr to r and subsequently by exponentiating the corresponding inequality we obtain

$$\frac{H(U,r)}{H(U,\rho r)} \le \rho^{-2\kappa'},$$

which implies

$$H(U_r,\rho) = \frac{H(U,r\rho)}{H(U,r)} \ge \rho^{2\kappa'}.$$

The second estimate in (6.25) follows similarly by integrating from *r* to *rR* and by noting that $rR < r_U$.

Lemma 6.7 Under the hypothesis of Lemma 6.6 above, with F_r as in (6.9), we have that for any $R \ge 1$ such that $0 < Rr \le r_0$, the following estimate holds for some universal constant C and where κ' is as in Lemma 6.6.

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_R^+} t^2 F_r^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \le C R^{4+2\kappa'} r^{2-2\sigma}$$

Proof We have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{R}^{+}} t^{2} F_{r}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} &= \frac{r^{4}}{H(U,r)} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{R}^{+}} t^{2} F(rX, r^{2}t)^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\ &= \frac{1}{r^{2} H(U,r)} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{Rr}^{+}} t^{2} F^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \leq \frac{1}{r^{2} H(U,Rr)} (Rr)^{2+2\ell} \frac{H(U,Rr)}{H(U,r)} \\ &\leq C_{F} R^{4+2\kappa'} r^{2-2\sigma}, \end{split}$$
(6.26)

where we used the fact since $Rr \leq r_U < r_0$, implying that $H(U, Rr) \geq (Rr)^{2\ell - 2 + 2\sigma}$. \Box

From this point on, we need to assume $\ell \ge 4$ as well as that *F* satisfies the bounds (4.2), (6.1), (6.2), unless stated otherwise. We then have the following theorem concerning the existence and homogeneity of blowups.

Theorem 6.8 (Existence and homogeneity of blowups) Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}^+_1)$ with F satisfying (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) for some $\ell \ge 4$. Fix $\sigma \in (0, 1)$. Suppose

$$\kappa = \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U, 0^+) < \ell - 1 + \sigma.$$

For r > 0, let U_r denote the Almgren rescalings as in Definition 6.2. Then

(i) For every R > 0, there exists $r_{R,U} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{R}^{+}} (U_{r}^{2} + |t| |\nabla U_{r}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (|\nabla (U_{r})_{x_{i}}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (U_{r})_{t}^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \le C(R), \quad 0 < r < r_{R,U}$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{Q}_{R}^{+}} (U_{r}^{2} + |t| |\nabla U_{r}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (|\nabla (U_{r})_{x_{i}}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (U_{r})_{t}^{2}) y^{a} \leq C(R), \quad 0 < r < r_{R,U};$$

(ii) There exists a sequence $r_i \to 0$ and a function $U_0 \in \mathbb{S}^+_{\infty}$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_R^+} ((U_{r_j} - U_0)^2 + |t| |\nabla U_{r_j} - \nabla U_0|^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \to 0;$$

(iii) U_0 is parabolically homogeneous of degree κ and is a global solution of the homogeneous thin obstacle problem, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{L}_a U_0 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{\infty}^+ \\ \min\{U_0, -\partial_y^a U_0\} = 0 & \text{on } S_{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(6.27)$$

(iv) $U_0, \nabla_x U_0, \partial_y^a U_0$ are continuously defined up to $\{t = 0\}$ and $\partial_t U_0$ is bounded up to $\{t = 0\}$.

Proof We first note that U_r solves (6.8). Therefore by taking $r_{R,U} = \frac{r_U}{R}$, the first estimate in (i) in Theorem 6.8 follows from the Gaussian estimates in Lemma 5.1, the second estimate in Lemma 6.6, and Lemma 6.7.

To show the second estimate in (i), we observe that arguing as Lemma 5.1 one can also establish the following "unweighted" version of second derivative estimates

$$\int_{\mathbb{Q}_{R}^{+}} (|\nabla U_{r}|^{2} + |\nabla (U_{r})_{x_{i}}|^{2} + (U_{r})_{t}^{2})|y|^{a} \le C(n, a, R) \int_{\mathbb{Q}_{2R}^{+}} (U_{r}^{2} + F_{r}^{2})|y|^{a}, \quad (6.28)$$

for any R > 0. We next note that Lemma 6.4 coupled with the fact that

$$H(U,r) \ge r^{2\ell - 2 + 2\sigma} \tag{6.29}$$

for small enough r implies that U_r is bounded up to $\{t = 0\}$. Moreover, since F satisfies (4.2), then again by (6.29) we can deduce that F_r are uniformly bounded for small enough r. Consequently we can assert that both U_r and F_r are uniformly bounded in $L^2(\mathbb{Q}_{2R}^+, y^a dXdt)$ independent of r for any R > 0, provided $r \le r_0$ for some r_0 sufficiently small. This implies the second estimate in (i).

In view of Lemma 5.3 and Lemma 6.7, in order to establish (ii), it suffices to show the existence of U_0 and the convergence

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_R^+} |U_{r_j} - U_0|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \to 0$$
(6.30)

for a subsequence $r_j \to 0$. Since $\kappa \ge 0$, for all small enough r, say $r \le r_1$, we have

$$\frac{rH'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} \ge -1.$$

Integrating the above inequality from $r\delta$ to r we obtain

$$H(U_r,\delta) = \frac{H(U,r\delta)}{H(U,r)} \le \delta^{-1}$$

and consequently

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{\delta}^{+}} U_{r}^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \leq \delta, \quad 0 < r < r_{1}.$$

🖄 Springer

At this point, we need the following inequalities from [13] which are corollaries of L. Gross' log-Sobolev inequality (see Lemma 7.7 in [13]). We first write

$$\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(X,t) = \frac{(4\pi)^{1/2}}{2^{a}\Gamma(\frac{a+1}{2})} t^{-a/2} p_{n}(x,t) p_{1}(y,t),$$
(6.31)

where $p_n(x,t) = (4\pi |t|)^{-n/2} e^{\frac{|x|^2}{4t}}$ and $p_1(y,t) = (4\pi |t|)^{-1/2} e^{\frac{y^2}{4t}}$ respectively indicate the backward heat kernels in \mathbb{R}^n and in \mathbb{R} .

As in [4], we also let

$$\overline{G}(X,t) = p_n(x,t)p_1(y,t)$$

The following inequalities hold:

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\int_{|f|>0}\overline{G}(\cdot,s)}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} f^2\overline{G}(\cdot,s) \le 2|s|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} |\nabla f|^2\overline{G}(\cdot,s),$$

for $f \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1},\overline{G}(\cdot,s)),$ (6.32)

and

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\int_{|f|>0} p_n(\cdot,s)}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f^2 p_n(\cdot,s) \le 2|s| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f|^2 p_n(\cdot,s),$$
(6.33)

for $f \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, G(\cdot, s))$.

We now choose A > 2 large enough such that for all -1 < t < 0,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}\setminus\mathbb{B}_{A/2}}\overline{G}(X,t)dX \le e^{-1/\delta}, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus B_{A/2}}p_n(x,t)dx \le e^{-1/\delta}.$$
(6.34)

Using the uniform gradient estimates from (i), i.e.,

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_R^+} |t| |\nabla U_r|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a < C_R$$

and the inequalities (6.32) and (6.33), we can argue as in (7.17)–(7.26) in [4], which crucially uses the estimate (6.34), to conclude that the following holds,

$$\int_{[(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus \mathbb{B}_A) \times (-R^2, 0)] \cup \mathbb{S}^+_{\delta}} U^2_r(X, t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X, t) y^a \le C\delta$$
(6.35)

for some universal *C*, which also depends on *R*. Now in the set $E = \mathbb{B}_A^+ \times [-R^2, -\delta^2]$, which is the complement of $[(\mathbb{R}_+^{n+1} \setminus \mathbb{B}_A) \times (-R^2, 0)] \cup \mathbb{S}_{\delta}^+$, we have that $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$ is bounded from above and below. Therefore from the uniform Gaussian estimates as in (i), we have that $\{U_r\}$ is uniformly bounded in $W_2^{2,1}(E, y^a dX dt)$. As a consequence, we can extract a subsequence which converges strongly to some U_0 in $L^2(E, y^a dX dt)$ and consequently in $L^2(E, y^a \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a dX dt)$. Hence the claim in (ii) now follows in a standard way by a Cantor diagonalization argument by letting $\delta \to 0$ and $A \to \infty$.

We now prove the claim in (iii). Given any compact subset K of $\overline{\mathbb{S}_{\infty}} = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-\infty, 0]$, the second estimate in i) yields that $\{U_r\}$ is uniformly bounded in $W_2^{2,1}(K, y^a dX dt)$. Then we can apply the local regularity estimates in [6] to assert that for some $\gamma = \gamma(a, n)$, $\nabla_x U_r, y^a \partial_y U_r \in H^{\gamma,\gamma/2}(K), \partial_t U_r \in L^{\infty}(K)$ uniformly in r. This follows from the fact that the conditions (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) imply that F_r , $\nabla_X F_r$, and $\partial_t F_r$ are locally uniformly bounded in $\overline{\mathbb{S}_{\infty}}$. Thus, for $\partial_t F_r$ we have

$$|\partial_t F_r(X,t)| = \frac{r^4 |\partial_t F(rX,r^2t)|}{H(U,r)^{1/2}} \le \frac{C_\ell r^\ell |(X,t)|^{\ell-4}}{r^{\kappa'}} \le C_\ell r^{1-\sigma} |(X,t)|^{\ell-4},$$

for small r > 0, which gives the uniform bound on compact subsets of $\overline{\mathbb{S}_{\infty}}$. The above uniform regularity of U_r is enough to pass to the limit in the Signorini problem and infer that U_0 solves the Signorini problem in (6.27). Moreover, by lower semicontinuity, the following estimate for U_0 holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_{R}^{+}} (U_{0}^{2} + |t| |\nabla U_{0}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (|\nabla (U_{0})_{x_{i}}|^{2} + |t|^{2} (U_{0})_{t}^{2}) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \le C(R),$$
(6.36)

for any R > 0. With (6.36) at our disposal, we can justify the Poon type computations for U_0 by using truncations as in the appendix of [4]. Here, we note that the intermediate calculations for the corresponding truncated functionals can be justified using the fact that $\nabla_x U_0$, $y^a \partial_y U_0 \in H^{\gamma,\gamma/2}(K)$, $\partial_t U_0 \in L^{\infty}(K)$ for any compact subset K of $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-\infty, 0]$. Therefore, we can infer

$$N'(U_0, r) = \frac{1}{r^3 H(U_0, r)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U_0^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU_0)^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U_0 ZU_0 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2 \right)$$
(6.37)

for any r > 0. Keeping (ii) in mind, we conclude

$$\begin{cases} I(U_r, \rho) \to I(U_0, \rho) \\ H(U_r, \rho) \to H(U_0, \rho). \end{cases}$$
(6.38)

Since

$$H(U_r, \rho) \ge \rho^{2\kappa'}$$

for any $\kappa' > \kappa$ by Lemma 6.6, we have $H(U_0, \rho) \neq 0$ for any $\rho > 0$. Now we can infer from (6.38) that

$$N(U_0, \rho) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} N(U_r, \rho) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} N(U, r\rho) = \kappa,$$

i.e.,

$$.N(U_0,\cdot) \equiv \kappa \tag{6.39}$$

It follows that $N'(U_0, \cdot) \equiv 0$ and hence the right hand side in (6.37) vanishes. In turn, from the equality in the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U_0^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (ZU_0)^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U_0 ZU_0 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^2$$

implies

$$ZU_0 = \kappa_0 U_0. \tag{6.40}$$

From the representation

$$I(U_0, r) = \frac{1}{2r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} U_0 Z U_0 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a,$$

🖉 Springer

coupled with (6.39) and (6.40), we obtain that

$$\kappa_0 = \kappa$$

and therefore U_0 is parabolically homogeneous of degree κ . This finishes the proof of (iii).

To conclude, we note that (iv) follows from the second estimate in (i), which is uniform in *r*. Hence, the local regularity estimates developed in [6] imply that, for any compact subset *K* of $\overline{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \times (-\infty, 0]$, $\nabla_x U_r$, $y^a \partial_y U_r \in H^{\gamma,\gamma/2}(K)$ (for some $\gamma = \gamma(a, n)$), $\partial_t U_r \in L^{\infty}(K)$ uniformly in *r*. By Ascoli-Arzelà's theorem, we have that for a subsequence of $\{r_j\}$ as in (ii), U_{r_j} , $\nabla_x U_{r_j}$ and $y^a \partial_y U_{r_j}$ converge uniformly in *K* to U_0 , $\nabla_x U_0$ and $y^a \partial_y U_0$ respectively. Thus, (iv) holds. Note also that $\partial_t U_0 \in L^{\infty}(K)$ follows from the uniform convergence of U_{r_j} to U_0 and the uniform time Lipschitz bounds for U_{r_j} 's.

7 Homogeneous global solutions and regular points

In this section, we show that the frequency limit at a free boundary point is either $\kappa = 1 + s$ or $\kappa \ge 2$. Furthermore, we show that the free boundary is regular near points where $\kappa = 1 + s$.

Theorem 7.1 Let $\ell \ge 4$ and $\sigma > 0$. Then with κ as in Theorem 6.8, we have that

$$\kappa \ge 1 + s$$
.

Proof Since $(0, 0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$, we have

$$U(0,0,0) = \nabla_x U(0,0,0) = \partial_y^a U(0,0,0) = 0$$
(7.1)

Using the boundedness of U_t , we have that $U(\cdot, 0)$ solves the elliptic thin obstacle problem with bounded right hand side. Consequently, from the regularity results in the elliptic case in [7] and (7.1) we infer that for some universal C

$$|U(X,t)| \le C(|X|^{1+s} + |t|) \le C(|X|^2 + |t|)^{(1+s)/2}.$$

Hence,

$$H(U,r) \leq \frac{C}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} (|X|^2 + |t|)^{1+s} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a$$
$$\leq Cr^{2+2s}, \tag{7.2}$$

where the second inequality in (7.2) follows from a change of variable and the homogeneity property of $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$. Now with κ as in Theorem 6.8, we obtain from the non-degeneracy Lemma 6.6 that

$$H(U,r) \ge r^{2\kappa'} \tag{7.3}$$

for any $\kappa' > \kappa$. Then (7.2) and (7.3) together imply

$$\kappa' \ge 1 + s$$
.

The conclusion follows letting $\kappa' \to \kappa$.

Next, we state our gap lemma.

Lemma 7.2 Let $\ell \ge 4$ and κ be as in Theorem 6.8. Then either $\kappa = 1 + s$ or $\kappa \ge 2$.

Proof Assume on the contrary that $\kappa < 2$. This also implies $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$. Then it follows that for any κ' such that $\kappa < \kappa' < 2$, we have that

$$H(U,r) \ge \left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right)^{2\kappa'} H(U,r_0),$$

for small enough $0 < r < r_0$, i.e.,

$$H(U,r) \ge c_0 r^{2\kappa'}, \quad \text{with } c_0 = \frac{H(U,r_0)}{r_0^{2\kappa'}}.$$
 (7.4)

As before, note that U_r solves the Signorini problem corresponding to F_r as in (6.9). Using (4.2) and (7.4), it follows that $F_r \to 0$ as $r \to 0$. In addition,

$$\partial_t U_r = \frac{r^2 U_t(rX, r^2 t)}{\sqrt{H(U, r)}} \to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 0, \tag{7.5}$$

since U_t is bounded and

$$\frac{r^2}{\sqrt{H(U,r)}} \to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 0,$$

because of (7.4) with $\kappa' < 2$. This implies that U_0 is a time independent global solution of the Signorini problem and is homogeneous of degree κ , which is less than 2. Then it follows from the classification result in Theorem 5.7 in [8] that $\kappa = 1 + s$.

We now show that near points with frequency $\kappa = 1 + s$, the free boundary is $H^{1+\alpha,\frac{1+\alpha}{2}}$ regular for some $\alpha > 0$ by invoking the elliptic theory. More precisely, we recall once more than $U(\cdot, 0)$ solves the elliptic Signorini problem with bounded right hand side because of the boundedness of U_t . We show that when the parabolic frequency limit κ at (0, 0) equals 1 + s, also the elliptic Almgren frequency at $0 \in \Gamma(U(\cdot, 0))$ (say κ_0) equals 1 + s. From this, it follows that the free boundary is $H^{1+\alpha,(1+\alpha)/2}$ regular near $(0, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$ in x, t for some $\alpha > 0$. We refer to [6] for a rigorous justification of $H^{1+\alpha,(1+\alpha)/2}$ -regularity of the free boundary in space and time near such an elliptic regular point for $U(\cdot, 0)$. We just mention here that this result crucially uses the elliptic epiperimetric inequality developed in [20], coupled with the boundedness of U_t . The corresponding result can be stated as follows.

Theorem 7.3 Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with F satisfying (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) for some $\ell \ge 4$. Assume that $(0, 0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$ and let κ be as in Theorem 6.8. If $\kappa = 1 + s$, then $\Gamma_*(U)$ is $H^{1+\alpha,(1+\alpha)/2}$ -regular near (0, 0) for some $\alpha > 0$.

Proof Let $\kappa < \kappa' < 2$. For $0 < \delta < 1$, rewrite the integral in the definition of H(U, r) as follows

$$H(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \cap \{(X,t)||X| \le |t|^{\delta/2}\}} U^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \cap \{(X,t)||X| \ge |t|^{\delta/2}\}} U^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \quad (7.6)$$

with the idea of estimating the second integral in the right hand side of (7.6). By writing $\frac{1}{e^{\frac{n+q+1}{4t}}}e^{\frac{|X|^2}{4t}}$ as

$$\frac{1}{t^{\frac{n+a+1}{2}}}e^{\frac{|X|^2}{4t}} = e^{\frac{|X|^2}{8t}}\frac{1}{t^{\frac{n+a+1}{2}}}e^{\frac{|X|^2}{8t}}$$

🙆 Springer

we note that in the region $\{(X, t) \mid t < 0, |X| \ge |t|^{\delta/2}, |t| \le r^2\}$, we have the bound

$$e^{\frac{|X|^2}{8t}} \le e^{-\frac{1}{8r^{2}-2\delta}}.$$
 (7.7)

Therefore, using (7.7) and the boundedness of U, the second integral on the right hand side of (7.6) can be estimated as follows

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \cap \{(X,t) \mid |X| \ge |t|^{\delta/2}\}} U^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \le C e^{-\frac{1}{8r^{2-2\delta}}}.$$
(7.8)

Consequently, we obtain

$$H(U,r) \le \|U\|_{L^{\infty}(B^{+}_{r^{\delta}}(0) \times (-r^{2},0))}^{2} + C \exp\left(\frac{-1}{8r^{2(1-\delta)}}\right),$$
(7.9)

where *C* also depends on the global bounds of *U*. Next note that for $0 < r < r_1$, where $r_1 = r_1(\delta)$ is small enough, we have

$$C \exp\left(\frac{-1}{8r^{2(1-\delta)}}\right) \le \frac{1}{2}c_0 r^{2\kappa'}$$
 (7.10)

and therefore we can deduce from (7.4), combined with (7.9) and (7.10), that

$$Cr^{2\kappa'} \le \|U\|^2_{L^{\infty}(B^+_{r^{\delta}}(0) \times (-r^2, 0))}.$$

Since $\kappa' < 2$ and U_t is bounded, we obtain by letting r^{δ} as our new *r* that, for small enough $\tilde{r} = \tilde{r}(\delta)$ and all $r \leq \tilde{r}$, the following inequality holds

$$\|U(,0)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r)} \geq Cr^{\frac{\kappa'}{\delta}}.$$

Since δ can be chosen arbitrarily close to 1 and κ' can be chosen arbitrarily close to κ , by letting $\frac{\kappa'}{\delta}$ as our new κ' , we deduce that there exists r_2 small enough, depending also on κ' , such that for $r \leq r_2$

$$\|U(,0)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r})} \ge Cr^{\kappa'}.$$
(7.11)

We now claim that (7.11) implies that $0 \in \Gamma_*(U(\cdot, 0))$ is a regular free boundary point for the corresponding elliptic problem. If not, then it follows from [8] that the elliptic Almgren frequency limit κ_0 for $U(\cdot, 0)$ as in [8] or [7] is bigger than or equal to 2. This follows from the classification result for global time independent solutions in [8, Theorem 5.7]. Then from the estimate in [8, Lemma 6.5], we obtain that $U(\cdot, 0)$ separates from the free boundary at a rate which is at least quadratic, and this is a contradiction to (7.11) above since $\kappa' < 2$. Therefore the elliptic frequency limit κ_0 necessarily equals 1 + s. The regularity result for the free boundary in [6] implies that $\Gamma_*(U)$ is $H^{1+\alpha,(1+\alpha)/2}$ -regular near (0, 0) in space and time for some $\alpha > 0$.

Remark 7.4 The proof of Theorem 7.3 can be viewed as the consolidation of "parabolic" and "elliptic" approaches to the definition of regular points. Namely, we say that $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$ is a *parabolic regular point* if the parabolic frequency $\kappa_U(x_0, t_0) = \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U, 0^+) = 1 + s$. We say that (x_0, t_0) is an *elliptic regular point* if $x_0 \in \Gamma(U(\cdot, t_0))$ with elliptic frequency $\kappa_{U(\cdot, t_0)} = 1 + s$. The proof of Theorem 7.3 shows that these two notions are in fact equivalent.

These points can also be defined as free boundary points where the quantities

$$L_{\text{ell}} = \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_r(x_0) \times \{t_0\})}}{r^{1+s}}$$
$$L_{\text{par}} = \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r(x_0, t_0))}}{r^{1+s}}$$

are bounded away from zero and infinity, i.e., $0 < L_{ell} < \infty$, $0 < L_{par} < \infty$, for elliptic and parabolic regular points, respectively.

There is also a third approach, taken by the authors of [1], which we call "hyperbolic". Namely, we say that $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$ is a *hyperbolic regular point* if the quantity

$$L_{\text{hyp}} = \limsup_{r \to 0} \frac{\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}^{*}(x_{0}, t_{0}))}}{r^{1+s}},$$

with $B_r^*(x_0, t_0) = \{(x, t) \mid (x - x_0)^2 + (t - t_0)^2 \le r^2\}$, is bounded away from zero and infinity, i.e., $0 < L_{hyp} < \infty$. It is proved in [1] that near such points the free boundary is $C^{1,\alpha}$ -regular in space and time. Because of this regularity, it is possible to see that hyperbolic regular points are also elliptic (and equivalently) parabolic regular. The converse statement that elliptic (or parabolic) regular points are hyperbolic is not immediately obvious. However, we should point out that in the case when s = 1/2 (or equivalently a = 0), the converse statement does hold because of the higher regularity of the free boundary near (parabolic) regular points, see [5].

We close this section with a Liouville type result for the operator \mathcal{L}_a which will be used subsequently in the classification of singular points.

Lemma 7.5 (Liouville type theorem) Let v be a solution to

$$\mathscr{L}_a v = 0$$
 in $\mathbb{S}_\infty = \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times (-\infty, 0]$

such that v(x, y, t) = v(x, -y, t) and $|v(X, t)| \le C (|X|^2 + |t|)^{k/2}$. Then v is a polynomial.

Proof The proof is similar to that of the elliptic case as in [8] and is based on induction in the degree k. The following elementary fact will be used:

Fact: If $\nabla_x v$, $\nabla_t v$ are polynomials and v(0, y) is a polynomial, then v is a polynomial.

Suppose $k \leq 1$. We first note that the estimate

$$\sup_{Q_{r/2}(0,0)} (|D_x^2 v| + |v_t|) \le \frac{C}{r^2} \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r)}$$
(7.12)

follows from the Hölder regularity result of [10], coupled with the translation invariance of the equation in (x, t). Now, since $\mathcal{L}_a v = 0$, (7.12) implies

$$\sup_{Q_{r/2}(0,0)} \left(v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y} v_y \right) \le \frac{C}{r^2} \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r)}.$$
(7.13)

Letting $r \to \infty$ (when k = 1), we obtain from (7.13)

$$v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y \equiv 0,$$

and from (7.12) that v is time independent. By repeating the arguments in the proof of Lemma 2.7 in [8], which only uses the symmetry of v in y, we can assert that v = bx + c

in this case. Now for general k (assuming the assertion of the lemma holds up to k - 1), it follows from the following rescaled estimate

$$\sup_{Q_{r/2}(0,0)} (r |\nabla_x v| + |v_t|) \le \frac{C}{r^2} \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r)},$$
(7.14)

the induction hypothesis, and the fact that $\nabla_x v$ and v_t solve the same equation, that $\nabla_x v$ is a polynomial of order k - 1 and v_t is a polynomial of order k - 2. Also from (7.13) we obtain

$$\left|v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_{y}\right| \le C(|X|^{2} + |t|)^{\frac{k}{2}-1}.$$

Now, similarly to the elliptic case, we infer from the observation

$$v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y = |y|^{-a}\partial_y(|y|^a v_y)$$
(7.15)

that $v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y$ solves the same equation as v. Observe here that $w = |y|^a v_y$ solves the conjugate equation $\mathcal{L}_{-a}w = 0$ (see for instance [4]), and therefore $v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y$, being the twice conjugate of v, solves the same PDE as v. From the estimate in (7.13), the fact that $w = v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y$ solves $\mathcal{L}_aw = 0$, and the induction hypothesis, we deduce that $v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y$ is a polynomial of order at most k-2. In particular, for (x, t) = (0, 0), $v_{yy}(0, y, 0) + \frac{a}{y}v_y(0, y, 0)$ is an even polynomial $p(y) = a_0 + a_2y^2 + \cdots + a_{2d}y^{2d}$. Using the expression for $v_{yy} + \frac{a}{y}v_y$ in (7.15) and integrating twice, we obtain

$$v(0, y) = c + by|y|^{-a} + \frac{a_0}{2(1+a)}y^2 + \frac{a_2}{2(3+a)}y^4 + \dots + \frac{a_{2d}}{(2d+2)(2d+1+a)}y^{2d+2}.$$

Next, keeping in mind the evenness of v, we infer that b = 0 and hence v(0, y) is a polynomial. Finally, since $\nabla_x v$, v_t are polynomials, we conclude that v is a polynomial.

8 Classification of free boundary points

Let the obstacle ψ be of class $H^{\ell,\ell/2}$ and let V_k be as in (3.7). Now given $\sigma < 1$, by repeating the arguments in the proof of Lemma 10.1 in [13] we can show that the limit

$$\kappa = \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(V_k, 0^+) \tag{8.1}$$

is independent of the cut-off τ in the definition of V_k . Therefore, if we denote κ in (8.1) by $\kappa_U^{\ell,\sigma}$ (since this quantity is independent of the cut-off τ and consequently independent of U_k), we have the following consistency result for the truncated frequencies whose proof is exactly the same as in the case a = 0 in [13, Proposition 10.3]:

$$\kappa_U^{\ell,\sigma}(0,0) = \min\{\kappa_U^{\tilde{\ell},\tilde{\sigma}}(0,0), \ell - 1 + \sigma\}$$
(8.2)

whenever $\ell \leq \tilde{\ell}$ and $\ell - 1 + \sigma \leq \tilde{\ell} - 1 + \tilde{\sigma}$. It follows from (8.2) that if $\psi \in H^{\tilde{\ell}, \frac{\tilde{\ell}}{2}}$, then

$$\sup_{\{(\ell,\sigma)|\ell-1+\sigma<\tilde{\ell}\}} \kappa_U^{\ell,\sigma}(0,0)$$
(8.3)

is well defined and we can define the quantity in (8.3) above to be $\kappa_U^{(\tilde{\ell})}(0, 0)$. In an analogous way, $\kappa_U^{(\tilde{\ell})}(x, t)$ can be defined for any $(x, t) \in \Gamma_*(U)$. Then, if $\psi \in H^{\ell, \ell/2}$, for $\kappa \in [1+s, \ell)$

we define

$$\Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U) = \{(x,t) \in \Gamma_{*}(U) \mid \kappa_{U}^{(\ell)}(x,t) = \kappa\}$$

$$(8.4)$$

In view of (8.2), we have the following result on the classification of free boundary points analogous to in [13, Proposition 10.7].

Proposition 8.1 If $\psi \in H^{\tilde{\ell}, \frac{\ell}{2}}$, with $\tilde{\ell} \ge \ell \ge 4$, then

$$\begin{cases} \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U) = \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\tilde{\ell})}(U), \text{ if } \kappa < \ell \\ \Gamma_{\ell}^{(\ell)}(U) = \bigcup_{\ell \le \kappa \le \tilde{\ell}} \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\tilde{\ell})}(U) \end{cases}$$

$$(8.5)$$

Similarly, we also have the following characterization of points which are on the extended free boundary $\Gamma_*(U)$ but not on the free boundary $\Gamma(U)$.

Proposition 8.2 If $\psi \in H^{\ell,\ell/2}$ for $\ell \ge 4$. Let $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$. Then either $\kappa_U^{(\ell)}(x_0, t_0) = 1 + s$, or $2 \le \kappa_U^{(\ell)}(x_0, t_0) \le \ell$. Moreover we have that

$$\Gamma_*(U) \setminus \Gamma(U) \subset \Gamma_\ell^{(\ell)}(U) \cup \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \Gamma_{2m+1-a}^{(\ell)}(U).$$

Proof The first part is nothing but Lemma 7.2.

Suppose now $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma_*(U) \setminus \Gamma(U)$ and that the frequency $\liminf_{U} \kappa_U^{(\ell)} < \ell$. By translation we may assume that $(x_0, t_0) = (0, 0)$. Then there exists a small $\delta > 0$ such that $U = \psi$ on $Q_{\delta}(0, 0)$. Let $V = V_k$ be as in (3.7). Since $\kappa < \ell$, by Theorem 6.8 there exists a blow up U_0 of V over a sequence $r_j \rightarrow 0$. From the fact that V = 0 on Q_{δ} we obtain that U_0 vanishes on $\{y = 0\}$. Then we have that the odd extension \tilde{U}_0 is \mathcal{L}_a caloric and homogeneous of degree κ . As a consequence, $|y|^a(\tilde{U}_0)_y$ is \mathcal{L}_{-a} caloric, symmetric and homogeneous of degree $\kappa - 1 + a$. From the Liouville theorem Lemma 7.5, it follows that $\kappa - 1 + a$ is an integer and moreover, since U_0 satisfies the Signorini condition, we have that $-\partial_y^a U_0$ is a non-negative polynomial on $\{y = 0\}$. Therefore there are two possibilities, either $\partial_y^a U_0$ is identically zero on $\{y = 0\}$ or $\kappa - 1 + a$ is an even integer. The former is not possible because U_0 and $\partial_y^a U_0$ vanishing identically on $\{y = 0\}$ would imply $U_0 \equiv 0$, because of the strong unique continuation property. This follows from the proof of Lemma 7.7 in [4]. Hence, we have $\kappa - 1 + a$ is even and consequently κ is of the form 2m + 1 - a for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. This finishes the proof of the proposition.

9 Singular points

In this section we define the singular free boundary points as the points of zero Lebesgue density of the coincidence set $\Lambda(U)$.

Definition 9.1 (Singular points) Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with *F* satisfying (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) for $\ell \ge 4$. We say that $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma_*(U)$ is *singular* if

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(U) \cap Q_r(x_0, t_0))}{\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(Q_r)} = 0$$

We will denote the set of singular points by $\Sigma(U)$ and call it the *singular set*. We can further classify singular points according to the homogeneity of their blowup, by defining

$$\Sigma_{\kappa}(U) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Sigma(U) \cap \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U), \quad \kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma.$$

🖉 Springer

The following proposition gives a complete characterization of the singular points in terms of the blowups and the generalized frequency. In particular, it establishes that

$$\Sigma_{\kappa}(U) = \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U) \text{ for } \kappa = 2m < \ell - 1 + \sigma, \ m \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proposition 9.2 (Characterization of singular points) Let $u \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with F satisfying (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) for some $\ell \ge 4$ and $0 \in \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(u)$, with $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$ for some $\sigma \in (0, 1)$. Then, the following statements are equivalent:

- (*i*) $0 \in \Sigma_{\kappa}(U)$.
- (ii) any blowup of U at the origin is a nonzero parabolically κ -homogeneous polynomial p_{κ} in \mathbb{S}_{∞} satisfying

$$\mathscr{L}_a p_{\kappa} = 0, \quad p_{\kappa}(x, 0, t) \ge 0, \quad p_{\kappa}(x, -y, t) = p_{\kappa}(x, y, t).$$

(We denote this class by \mathscr{P}^+_{κ} , see Definition 10.4.) (iii) $\kappa = 2m, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof (i) \Rightarrow (ii) Note that the rescalings U_r satisfy

$$\mathscr{L}_a U_r = |y|^a F_r - 2(\partial_y^a U) \mathcal{H}^{n+1} \big|_{\Lambda(U_r)} \quad \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{1/r},$$

in the sense of distributions, after an even reflection in the y variable. Since U_r are uniformly bounded in $W_2^{2,1}(\mathbb{Q}_{2R}^+, |y|^a dXdt)$ for small r by Theorem 6.8, $\partial_y^a U_r$ are uniformly bounded in $L_2(Q_R)$. On the other hand, if $0 \in \Sigma(U)$, then

$$\frac{\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(U_r) \cap \mathbb{Q}_R)}{R^{n+2}} = \frac{\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(u) \cap Q_{Rr})}{(Rr)^{n+2}} \to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 0,$$

and therefore

$$(\partial_y^a U_r) \mathcal{H}^{n+1} \big|_{\Lambda(U_r)} \to 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{Q}_R$$

in the sense of distributions. Further, the bound $|F(x, t)| \leq C_{\ell} |(X, t)|^{\ell-2}$ implies that

$$|F_r(X,t)| = \frac{r^2 |F(rX,r^2t)|}{H_U(r)^{1/2}} \le \frac{C_\ell r^\ell}{H_U(r)^{1/2}} |(X,t)|^{\ell-2}$$
$$\le C r^{\ell-\ell_0} R^{\ell-2} \to 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{Q}_R,$$

where $\ell_0 = \ell - (1 - \sigma)/2 \in (\kappa, \ell)$ and we have used the fact that $H_U(r) \ge r^{2\ell_0}$ for $0 < r < r_U$, by Lemma 6.6. Hence, any blowup U_0 is caloric in \mathbb{Q}_R for any R > 0, meaning that it is caloric in the entire strip $\mathbb{S}_{\infty} = \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times (-\infty, 0]$. On the other hand, by the characterization of blowups in Theorem 6.8 (iii), U_0 is homogeneous in \mathbb{S}_{∞} and therefore has a polynomial growth at infinity. Then, by the Liouville-type Lemma 7.5, we can conclude that U_0 must be a parabolically homogeneous polynomial p_{κ} of a certain integer degree κ . Note that $p_{\kappa} = U_0 \neq 0$ by construction. The properties of U also imply that that $p_{\kappa}(x, 0, t) \ge 0$ for all $(x, t) \in S_{\infty}$ and and $p_{\kappa}(x, -y, t) = p_{\kappa}(x, y, t)$ for all $(x, y, t) \in S_{\infty}$. In other words, $U_0 = p_{\kappa} \in \mathscr{P}_{\kappa}^+$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii) Let p_{κ} be a blowup of U at the origin. Since p_{κ} is a polynomial, clearly $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume now, towards the contradiction, that κ is odd. Then, the nonnegativity of p_{κ} on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\} \times \{-1\}$ implies that p_{κ} vanishes there identically, implying that $p_{\kappa} \equiv 0$ on S_{∞} . Now, using the even symmetry in y and the fact that $\mathscr{L}_a p_{\kappa} = 0$, we are going to infer that $p_{\kappa} \equiv 0$, contrary to the assumption that p_{κ} is nonzero. From even symmetry in y, we represent

$$p_{\kappa}(x, y, t) = \sum_{\substack{(\alpha, k, j) \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n} \times \mathbb{Z}_{+} \times \mathbb{Z}_{+} \\ |\alpha| + 2k + 2j = \kappa}} c_{\alpha, k, j} x^{\alpha} y^{2k} t^{j},$$

Now, for (α, k, j) such that $|\alpha| + 2k + 2j = \kappa$, consider the partial derivative $\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^j p_{\kappa}$. Since ∂_{x_i} and ∂_t are derivatives in directions tangential to the thin space, we conclude that

$$\mathscr{L}_{a}(\partial_{x}^{\alpha}\partial_{t}^{j}p_{\kappa}) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{S}_{\infty}, \quad \partial_{x}^{\alpha}\partial_{t}^{j}p_{\kappa} = 0 \quad \text{on } S_{\infty}.$$

We now prove by induction in k, that $c_{\alpha,k,j} = 0$ for $k = 0, 1, ..., \lfloor \kappa/2 \rfloor$. When k = 0, we have $|\alpha| + 2j = \kappa$ and therefore

$$\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^J p_{\kappa} \equiv \alpha! j! c_{\alpha,0,j}$$

and from the vanishing of $\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^j p_{\kappa}$ on S_{∞} , we conclude that $c_{\alpha,0,j} = 0$. Suppose now we know that $c_{\alpha,k',j} = 0$ for $0 \le k' < k \le \lfloor \kappa/2 \rfloor$ and show that it holds also for k. Indeed, one consequence from the inductive assumption is that

$$\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^j p_{\kappa}(x, y, t) = \alpha! j! c_{\alpha,k,j} y^{2k},$$

which is *a*-caloric if and only if $c_{\alpha,k,j} = 0$. Hence, we can conclude that $p_{\kappa} \equiv 0$, contrary to our assumption. Thus, we must have $\kappa \in \{2m \mid m \in \mathbb{N}\}$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii) The proof of this implication is stated as a separate Liouville-type result in Lemma 9.3 below.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i) Suppose that 0 is not a singular point and that over some sequence $r = r_j \rightarrow 0^+$ we have $\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(U_r) \cap Q_1) \ge \delta > 0$. From the second estimate in (i) in Theorem 6.8, the local regularity estimates developed in [6] and Ascoli-Arzelà, by taking a subsequence if necessary, we may assume that U_{r_j} converges locally uniformly to a blowup U_0 . We claim that

$$\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(U_0) \cap Q_1) \ge \delta > 0.$$

Indeed, otherwise there exists an open set \mathcal{O} in S_{∞} with $\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\mathcal{O}) < \delta$ such that $\Lambda(U_0) \cap \overline{Q_1} \subset \mathcal{O}$. Then for large j we must have $\Lambda(U_{r_j}) \cap \overline{Q_1} \subset \mathcal{O}$, which is a contradiction, since $\mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\Lambda(U_{r_j}) \cap \overline{Q_1}) \geq \delta > \mathcal{H}^{n+1}(\mathcal{O})$. Since $U_0 = p_{\kappa}$ is a polynomial, vanishing on a set of positive \mathcal{H}^{n+1} -measure on S_{∞} , it follows that U_0 vanishes identically on S_{∞} . But then, repeating the argument at the end of the step (ii) \Rightarrow (iii), we conclude that $U_0 \equiv 0$, a contradiction. Thus, 0 is a singular point.

The implication (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) in Proposition 9.2 is a consequence of the Liouville-type result Lemma 7.5 which is the parabolic counterpart of Lemma 1.3.3 in [18].

This, in turn, is a particular case of the following lemma, analogous to Lemma 1.3.4 in [18] in the elliptic case, which stems from Lemma 7.6 in [23].

Lemma 9.3 Let $v \in W_{2,loc}^{1,1}(\mathbb{S}_{\infty}, |y|^a dXdt)$ be such that $\mathcal{L}_a v \ge 0$ in \mathbb{S}_{∞} and $\mathcal{L}_a v = 0$ in $\mathbb{S}_{\infty} \setminus S_{\infty}$. If v is parabolically 2m-homogeneous, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and has a polynomial growth at infinity, then $\mathcal{L}_a v = 0$ in \mathbb{S}_{∞} .

Proof Let $\mu \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathscr{L}_a v$ in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times (-\infty, 0)$. By the assumptions, μ is a nonnegative measure, supported on $\{y = 0\} \times (-\infty, 0)$. We are going to show that in fact $\mu = 0$. To this end,

let P(x, t) be a parabolically 2*m*-homogeneous *a*-caloric polynomial, which is positive on $\{y = 0\} \times (-\infty, 0)$. For instance, one can take the polynomial

$$p(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} x_j^{2m} + (-t)^m,$$

and let $P = \tilde{p}$ be the *a*-caloric extension constructed in Lemma 3.2. Further, let $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}((0, \infty))$, with $\eta \ge 0$, and define

$$\Psi(x,t) = \eta(t)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X,t).$$

Note that we have the following identity (similar to that of $\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a$)

$$\nabla_X \Psi = \frac{X}{2t} \Psi.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{div}(|y|^{a} \nabla v), \Psi P \rangle &= -\int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} \langle \nabla v, \nabla (\Psi P) \rangle |y|^{a} dX \, dt \\ &= -\int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} [\Psi \langle \nabla v, \nabla P \rangle + P \langle \nabla v, \nabla \Psi \rangle] |y|^{a} \, dX \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} (\Psi v \operatorname{div}(|y|^{a} \nabla P) + |y|^{a} [v \langle \nabla \Psi, \nabla P \rangle - P \langle \nabla v, \nabla \Psi \rangle]) \, dX \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} \left(v \operatorname{div}(|y|^{a} \nabla P) + \frac{|y|^{a}}{2t} [v \langle X, \nabla P \rangle - P \langle X, \nabla v \rangle] \right) \Psi \, dX \, dt \end{split}$$

We now use the identities $\operatorname{div}(|y|^a \nabla P) - |y|^a \partial_t P = 0$, $\langle X, \nabla P \rangle + 2t \partial_t P = 2mP$, $\langle X, \nabla v \rangle + 2t \partial_t v = 2mv$ to arrive at

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \operatorname{div}(|y|^{a} \nabla v), \Psi P \rangle &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} \left[2mPv - P\langle X, \nabla v \rangle \right] \frac{|y|^{a}}{2t} \Psi \, dX \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \partial_{t} v \Psi P |y|^{a} dX \, dt \\ &= \langle |y|^{a} \partial_{t} v, \Psi P \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\langle \mu, \Psi P \rangle = \langle |y|^a \partial_t v - \operatorname{div}(|y|^a \nabla v), \Psi P \rangle = 0$. Since μ is a nonpositive measure, this implies that actually $\mu = 0$ and the proof is complete.

10 Weiss and Monneau type monotonicity formulas

In this section we establish two families of monotonicity formulas that play a crucial role in our analysis of singular points. The elliptic ancestors of these formulas were first obtained in [18] in the study of the Signorini problem corresponding to a = 0 (or s = 1/2), and were subsequently generalized to all $a \in (-1, 1)$ (all $s \in (0, 1)$) in [21]. In the parabolic setting and still for the case a = 0 such formulas were first proved in [13]. Theorems 10.1 and 10.5 below respectively extend to all values $a \in (-1, 1)$ Theorems 13.1 and 13.4 in [13].

In the following statement the quantities H(U, r) and D(U, r) are those defined in (4.7) and (4.8) respectively.

Theorem 10.1 (Weiss type monotonicity formula in Gaussian space) Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with *F* satisfying (4.2) for some $\ell \geq 2$ and a constant C_{ℓ} .

For $\kappa \in (0, \ell)$ we define the parabolic κ -Weiss type functional

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} r^{-2\kappa} \Big\{ D(U,r) - \frac{\kappa}{2} H(U,r) \Big\}.$$
(10.1)

Then, for any $\sigma \in (0, 1)$ such that $\kappa \leq \ell - 1 + \sigma$ there exists C' > 0 depending on n, a, ℓ, C_{ℓ} such that

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}'(U,r) \ge \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} \left(ZU - \kappa U + |t|F \right)^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} - C' r^{1-2\sigma}.$$
(10.2)

In particular, with $C = \frac{C'}{2-2\sigma}$ the function

$$r \mapsto \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) + Cr^{2-2\sigma},$$

is monotonically nondecreasing in (0, 1), and therefore the limit exists

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,0^+) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r).$$

Proof Using Lemmas 4.4 and 4.7 we find

$$\begin{split} r^{2\kappa+3}\mathscr{W}'_{\kappa}(U,r) &= r^{3}(D'(U,r) - \frac{\kappa}{2}H'(U,r)) - 2\kappa r^{2}(D(U,r) - \frac{\kappa}{2}H(U,r)) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{+}_{r}} \left(ZU - \kappa U + |t|F \right)^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a} - \int_{\mathbb{S}^{+}_{r}} |t|^{2}F^{2}\,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}. \end{split}$$

Next, we note that (4.17) gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t|^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \le C r^{2(1+\ell)},$$

for some C > 0 depending only on n, a, ℓ, C_{ℓ} . This gives

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}'(U,r) \geq \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} \left(ZU - \kappa U + |t|F \right)^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} - Cr^{-1+2(\ell-\kappa)}.$$

If now $1 - \ell + \kappa \le \sigma < 1$, we conclude that

$$\mathscr{W}'_{\kappa}(U,r) \ge -Cr^{1-2\sigma},$$

and therefore the function

$$r \mapsto \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) + Cr^{2-2\sigma},$$

is monotonically nondecreasing.

In the sequel we will need the following results.

Lemma 10.2 Under the assumptions of Theorem 10.1, suppose in addition that $0 \in \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U)$ for $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$. Then

$$H(U,r) \le C \left(\|U\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^+_1,|y|^a)}^2 + C_{\ell}^2 \right) r^{2\kappa},$$

with $C = C(\kappa, \sigma, n) > 0$.

Deringer

Proof We begin by observing that the following alternative holds: either (i) $H(U, r) \leq r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma}$, or (ii) $H(U, r) > r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma}$. Since the conclusion follows immediately in case (i), we assume that (ii) holds. Let (r_0, r_1) be a maximal interval in the open set $\{r \in (0, 1) \mid H(U, r) > r^{2\ell-2+2\sigma}\}$. For $r \in (r_0, r_1)$, from Theorem 4.8 we infer

$$\Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,r) = \frac{1}{2} r e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}} \frac{H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} + 2(e^{Cr^{1-\sigma}} - 1) \ge \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,0^+) = \kappa,$$

which in turn yields

$$\frac{H'(U,r)}{H(U,r)} \ge \frac{2}{r} \left[(\kappa+2)e^{-Cr^{1-\sigma}} - 2 \right] \ge \frac{2\kappa}{r} \left(1 - C_1 r^{1-\sigma} \right),$$

with $C_1 = (1 + \frac{2}{\kappa}) C$. Integrating we obtain

$$\ln \frac{H(U, r_1)}{H(U, r)} \ge \ln \frac{r_1^{2\kappa}}{r^{2\kappa}} - C_2 r_1^{\sigma},$$

and therefore

$$H(U,r) \le C_3 r^{2\kappa} \frac{H(U,r_1)}{r_1^{2\kappa}}$$

We now observe that either $r_1 = 1$, or $H(U, r_1) = r_1^{2\ell - 2 + 2\sigma}$. In the former case we have $H(U, 1) \leq C\left(\|U\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^+_1, |y|^a)}^2 + C_\ell^2 \right)$ by the L^∞ bound on U, whereas in the latter we recall that, by assumption, $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$. Either ways,

$$H(U, r_1) \le C \left(\|U\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^+_1, |y|^a)}^2 + C_{\ell}^2 \right) r_1^{2\kappa},$$

which gives the desired conclusion.

Lemma 10.3 If $0 \in \Gamma_{\kappa}^{(\ell)}(U)$ for $\kappa < \ell - 1 + \sigma$, then

 $\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,0^+)=0.$

Proof By Lemma 6.1, we know that

$$\kappa = \Phi_{\ell,\sigma}(U,0^+) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \tilde{N}(U,r) = 2 \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{D(U,r)}{H(U,r)}$$

Moreover, we infer from Lemma 10.2 that $H(U, r) \leq Cr^{2\kappa}$. Hence,

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U, r) = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{H(U, r)}{r^{2\kappa}} \left(\frac{D(U, r)}{H(U, r)} - \frac{\kappa}{2} \right) = 0.$$

Definition 10.4 For $\kappa > 0$ we denote by \mathscr{P}^+_{κ} the class of all parabolically κ -homogeneous polynomials p_{κ} in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times (-\infty, 0)$ such that

(i) $\mathcal{L}_{a} p_{\kappa} = 0;$ (ii) $p_{\kappa}(x, 0, t) \ge 0;$ (iii) $p_{\kappa}(x, -y, t) = p_{\kappa}(x, y, t);$ (iv) $\kappa = 2m, m \in \mathbb{N}.$

Theorem 10.5 (Monneau type monotonicity formula) Let $U \in \mathfrak{S}_F(\mathbb{S}_1^+)$ with F satisfying (4.2), (6.1), (6.2) for some $\ell \ge 4$ and a constant C_ℓ . Assume that $0 \in \Sigma_{\kappa}(U)$ with $\kappa = 2m < \ell$, for $m \in \mathbb{N}$. For any p_{κ} we define the Monneau type functional

$$\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U, p_{\kappa}, r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} (U - p_{\kappa})^{2} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a}, \quad r \in (0, 1).$$
(10.3)

Then, for any $1 - \ell - \kappa \leq \sigma < 1$ there exists a constant C'' > 0, depending on $n, a, \ell, C_{\ell}, \sigma$, such that

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U, p_{\kappa}, r) \ge -C''\left(1 + \|U\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1}, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a})} + \|p_{\kappa}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1}, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a})}\right)r^{-\sigma}.$$
 (10.4)

In particular, with $C = \frac{C''}{1-\sigma}$ the function $r \to \mathcal{M}_{\kappa}(U, p_{\kappa}, r) + Cr^{1-\sigma}$ is monotonically nondecreasing on (0, 1).

Proof Letting $V = U - p_{\kappa}$. Notice that from (i) in Definition 10.4 we have in \mathbb{S}_1^+

$$\mathscr{L}_a V = \mathscr{L}_a U - \mathscr{L}_a p_{\kappa} = F.$$

From Remark 4.2 we know that

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(p_{\kappa},r) = \frac{H(p_{\kappa},r)}{2r^{2\kappa}} \left(\tilde{N}(p_{\kappa},r) - \kappa \right) \equiv 0.$$

We now use this information to show that

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) = \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r). \tag{10.5}$$

In fact, we find from (10.1)

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) &= \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) - \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(p_{\kappa},r) = \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V+p_{\kappa},r) - \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(p_{\kappa},r) \\ &= \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} |t| \left(|\nabla V|^{2} + 2\langle \nabla V, \nabla p_{\kappa} \rangle \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\ &- \frac{\kappa}{2} \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} \left(V^{2} + 2V p_{\kappa} \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\ &= \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r) + \frac{2}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} |t| \langle \nabla V, \nabla p_{\kappa} \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} - \frac{\kappa}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} V p_{\kappa} \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\ &= \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r) + \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+2}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+}} V \left(Z p_{\kappa} - \kappa p_{\kappa} \right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a} y^{a} \\ &= \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r), \end{split}$$

in view of the fact that $Zp_{\kappa} = \kappa p_{\kappa}$. Since (10.3) and (4.7) give

$$\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U, p_{\kappa}, r) = \frac{H(V, r)}{r^{2\kappa}},$$

we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U, p_{\kappa}, r) = \frac{H'(V, r)}{r^{2\kappa}} - \frac{2\kappa}{r^{2\kappa+1}}H(V, r).$$
(10.6)

Using computations similar to the ones carried out in the proof of Lemmas 4.1 and 4.3, and applying Lemma 4.4, we infer that

$$\begin{split} H'(V,r) &= \frac{4}{r} I(V,r) \\ &= \frac{4}{r} \left\{ D(V,r) - \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| V F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{S_r} |t| V(x,0,t) \partial_y^a V(x,0,t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(x,0,t) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Inserting this information in (10.6) yields

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dr}\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U,\,p_{\kappa},r) &= \frac{4}{r^{2\kappa+1}} \bigg\{ D(V,r) - \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| V F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{S_r} |t| V(x,0,t) \partial_y^a V(x,0,t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(x,0,t) \bigg\} - \frac{2\kappa}{r^{2\kappa+1}} H(V,r) \\ &= \frac{4}{r} \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r) - \frac{4}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| V F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ \frac{4}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \int_{S_r} |t| p_{\kappa}(x,0,t) \partial_y^a U(x,0,t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(x,0,t). \end{split}$$

We proceed to estimate each term in the last line. Using (10.5), and applying Theorem 10.1 and Lemma 10.3, we infer that for a suitable choice of a constant C

$$\mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(V,r) = \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,r) \ge \mathscr{W}_{\kappa}(U,0^{+}) - Cr^{2-2\sigma} = -Cr^{2-2\sigma}.$$

For the second term, we apply Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality, (4.17), and Lemma 10.2 to obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} |t| V F \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a &\leq \frac{1}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} V^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+} t^2 F^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \frac{Cr}{r^{2\kappa+3}} \left(H(U,r)^{1/2} + H(p_\kappa,r)^{1/2} \right) r^{1+\ell} \\ &\leq C \left(\|U\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}_1^+,|y|^a)} + \|p_\kappa\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}_1^+,|y|^a)} + 1 \right) r^{\ell-\kappa-1} \\ &\leq C \left(\|U\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}_1^+,|y|^a)} + \|p_\kappa\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}_1^+,|y|^a)} + 1 \right) r^{-\sigma}. \end{split}$$

Finally, to conclude, we observe that

$$p_{\kappa}(x,0,t) \ge 0$$
 and $p_{\kappa}(x,0,t) \ge 0$,

so that

$$\int_{S_r} |t| p_{\kappa}(x,0,t) \partial_y^a U(x,0,t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(x,0,t) \ge 0.$$

We thus conclude

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dr}\mathscr{M}_{\kappa}(U,\,p_{\kappa},r) &\geq -Cr^{1-2\sigma} - C\left(\|U\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1},|y|^{a})} + \|p_{\kappa}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1},|y|^{a})} + 1\right)r^{-\sigma} \\ &\geq -C\left(\|U\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1},|y|^{a})} + \|p_{\kappa}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{+}_{1},|y|^{a})} + 1\right)r^{-\sigma}, \end{split}$$

as desired.

11 Structure of the singular set

As before, we assume that the obstacle $\psi \in H^{\ell,\ell/2}$ for some $\ell \ge 4$. Similarly to [13], we define the spatial dimension of the singular set based on the polynomial $p_{\kappa}^{(x_0,t_0)}$ as in Proposition 9.2. For a singular point $(x_0, t_0) \in \Sigma_{\kappa}(U)$, we define

$$d_{\kappa}^{(x_0,t_0)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \langle \xi, \nabla_x \partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_t^j p_{\kappa}^{(x_0,t_0)} \rangle = 0$$

for any $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)$ and $j \ge 0$ such that $|\alpha| + 2j = \kappa - 1\},$ (11.1)

which we call as the spatial dimension of $\Sigma_{\kappa}(U)$ at (x_0, t_0) . Likewise, for any d = 0, ..., n, we define

$$\Sigma_{\kappa}^{d}(U) = \{ (x_0, t_0) \in \Sigma_{\kappa}(U) \mid d_{\kappa}^{(x_0, t_0)} = d \}.$$

In the case when d = n, i.e., $(x_0, t_0) \in \Sigma_{\kappa}^n(U)$, the blow up limit $p_{\kappa}^{(x_0, t_0)}$ depends only on y, t when $\kappa = 2m < \ell$. In such a case, (x_0, t_0) is referred to as time-like singular point. The proof of this fact is analogous to that of Lemma 12.10 in [13] (for the case a = 0) and can be seen as follows. Since in this case it holds

$$\nabla_x \partial_x^\alpha \partial_t^J p_\kappa = 0$$

for all $|\alpha| + 2j = \kappa - 1$, we have vanishing of $\partial_{x_i} p_{\kappa}$ on $\{y = 0\}$. Moreover, using the fact that $\partial_y^a \partial_{x_i} p_{\kappa}$ also vanishes identically on $\{y = 0\}$ and $\partial_{x_i} p_{\kappa}$ is \mathcal{L}_a caloric, by the strong unique continuation property we obtain $\partial_{x_i} p_{\kappa} \equiv 0$ and hence p_{κ} depends only on y, t.

Now we recall the definition of space-like and time-like manifolds as in Definition 12.11 in [13].

Definition 11.1 We say that a (d+1) dimensional manifold $\mathscr{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ for d = 0, ..., n-1 is space-like of class $C^{1,0}$ if locally, after a rotation of coordinates, one can represent it as a graph

$$(x_{d+1},\ldots,x_n)=g(x_1,\ldots,x_d,t),$$

where g, $\nabla_x g$ are continuous.

Likewise, a *n*-dimensional manifold $\mathscr{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ is time-like of class C^1 if it can be locally represented as

$$t = g(x_1, \ldots, x_n),$$

where g is C^1 .

With the Monneau-type monotonicity formula as in Theorem 10.5 in hand, we can repeat the arguments as in [13] using the $L^{\infty} - L^2$ type estimates as in Lemma 6.4 to assert nondegeneracy of Almgren-Poon blowup at singular points and also uniqueness and continuous dependence of κ -homogeneous blowups at singular points. Then by again arguing as in [13], using Whitney extension and the implicit function theorem, we obtain the following structure theorem of the singular set based on spatial dimension of the singular point as defined in (11.1).

Theorem 11.2 (Structure of the singular set) Let U be a solution to (2.3), where $\psi \in H^{\ell,\ell/2}$ for some $\ell \ge 4$. Then for any $\kappa = 2m < \ell$, we have $\Gamma_{(k)}(U) = \Sigma_{\kappa}(U)$. Moreover, for every $d = 0, \ldots, n-1$, the set $\Sigma_{\kappa}^{d}(U)$ is contained in a countable union of (d + 1)-dimensional space-like $C^{1,0}$ manifolds and $\Sigma_{\kappa}^{n}(U)$ is contained in a countable union of time-like ndimensional C^{1} manifolds. Funding Open access funding provided by Università degli Studi di Padova within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

12 Appendix

In this appendix we collect the proofs of some of the auxiliary results in Sect. 4

Proof of Lemma 4.1 To prove (4.6) we observe that by the equation (3.4) satisfied by U in \mathbb{S}_{+}^{+} , we have that in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1}

$$\mathscr{L}_a(U^2) = 2U\mathscr{L}_a U - 2|\nabla U|^2 y^a = 2UFy^a - 2|\nabla U|^2 y^a.$$

This gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |\nabla U|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} UF \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \mathscr{L}_a(U^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$
(12.1)

The following computation can be justified rigorously considering the region

$$\mathscr{R}_{\varepsilon} = \{ X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \mid y > \varepsilon \},\$$

and then let $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. One should keep in mind that the outer normal on $\partial \mathscr{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is $\nu = -e_{n+1}$. Integrating by parts we find

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \mathscr{L}_a(U^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a &= 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U U_t \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla(U^2)) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \\ &= 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U U_t \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \langle \nabla(U^2), \nabla \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \rangle y^a \\ &= 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U U_t \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U \langle \nabla U, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a, \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we have used (2.19) and the fact that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = 0.$$

The vanishing of this integral is proved as follows. We write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = \int_{(\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}) \cap \{U > 0\}} U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + \int_{(\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}) \cap \{U = 0\}} U \partial_y^a U \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$

The first integral in the right-hand side vanishes since $\partial_y^a U = 0$ on the set $(\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}) \cap \{U > 0\}$. The integral on the set $(\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}) \cap \{U = 0\}$ vanishes since $\partial_y^a U \in C_{\text{loc}}^{0,\frac{1-a}{2}}$ up to thin set $\{y = 0\}$.

п

We conclude that

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \mathscr{L}_a(U^2) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} U\left(U_t + \langle \nabla U, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle\right) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$

From this formula, (2.24) and (4.5) we conclude that

$$\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+}\mathscr{L}_a(U^2)\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a = \frac{1}{2t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+}UZU\ \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = \frac{1}{t}i(U,t).$$

Combining this equation with (12.1), we conclude that (4.6) holds.

In order to prove Lemmas 4.4 and 4.7 for every $\delta \in (0, 1)$ we consider the following truncated quantities

$$H_{\delta}(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^{-\delta r^2} h(U,t) dt = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} U^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt, \qquad (12.2)$$

and

$$D_{\delta}(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{-r^2}^{-\delta r^2} d(U,t) dt = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} |t| |\nabla U|^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a dX dt.$$
(12.3)

Consideration of these integrals is justified by the fact that for every $\delta \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \times (-1, -\delta)).$$
(12.4)

Proof of Lemma 4.4 Using our assumptions on U we can proceed as in the proof of Lemma 6.5 in [4]. We thus skip most details and only refer to the relevant changes. The first step is to recognize that for $t \in (-1, -\delta)$ one has

$$h'(U,t) = \frac{1}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} UZU \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a = \frac{2}{t} i(U,t).$$
(12.5)

Again the proof of (12.5) can be rigorously justified by integrating on the region $\mathscr{R}_{\varepsilon}$, where we know that (12.4) holds, and then let $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ using (2.19), (2.17), (2.18) and the assumptions on U on the thin set $\{y = 0\}$.

Substituting (12.1) in (12.5) we have

$$th'(U,t) = 2d(U,t) + 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} UF\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$
 (12.6)

Using (12.2) we obtain from (12.6)

$$H_{\delta}'(U,r) = 2r \int_{-1}^{-\delta} th'(U,r^{2}t)dt = \frac{4}{r} D_{\delta}(U,r) - \frac{4}{r^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}_{r}^{+} \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^{+}} UF|t|\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}y^{a}.$$
 (12.7)

At this point we can argue as in the proof of Lemma 6.5 in [4] to pass to the limit as $\delta \to 0^+$ in (12.7) and reach the desired conclusion for H'(U, r).

Proof of Lemma 4.7 For every $\delta \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$D_{\delta}(U,r) = \int_{-1}^{-\delta} d(U,r^2t)dt.$$

This gives

$$D'_{\delta}(U,r) = 2r \int_{-1}^{-\delta} t d'(U,r^2t) dt = \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{-r^2}^{-\delta r^2} t d'(U,t) dt.$$
(12.8)

We next compute d'(U, t) for $-1 < t < -\delta$. We are going to use the scalings (2.20) and (2.22).

Again, to make rigorous the following computation we should first consider integrals on the region $\mathscr{R}_{\varepsilon}$, and then pass to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. For $t \in (-1, -\delta)$ and $0 < \lambda < 1/t$ we have from (4.4)

$$d(U,\lambda^2 t) = -\lambda^2 t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |\nabla U(X',\lambda^2 t)|^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a(X',\lambda^2 t)(y')^a dX'.$$

The change of variable $X' = \lambda X$ and (2.22) give

$$d(U,\lambda^{2}t) = -\lambda^{n+a+1}\lambda^{2}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} |\nabla U(\lambda X,\lambda^{2}t)|^{2}\overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(\lambda X,\lambda^{2}t)y^{a}dX$$
$$= -\lambda^{2}t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} \left(|\nabla U|^{2} \circ \delta_{\lambda}\right)(X,t) \overline{\mathscr{G}}_{a}(X,t)y^{a}dX.$$

Recalling that

$$\frac{d}{d\lambda}(f\circ\delta_{\lambda})(X,t)\big|_{\lambda=1}=Zf(X,t),$$

if we differentiate with respect to λ and set $\lambda = 1$ in the previous identity we find

$$\begin{split} 2td'(U,t) &= -2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |\nabla U|^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} Z(|\nabla U|^2) \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &= -t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \left[Z(|\nabla U|^2) + 2|\nabla U|^2 \right] \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \end{split}$$

Consider the vector fields $X_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$, i = 1, ..., n, $X_{n+1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$. One easily verifies that the commutator $[X_i, Z] = X_i$, i = 1, ..., n + 1. This gives (using summation convention)

$$Z(|\nabla U|^2) = 2ZX_i u X_i U = 2X_i Z u X_i U - 2X_i U X_i U = 2\langle \nabla(ZU), \nabla U \rangle - 2|\nabla U|^2$$

Substituting in the latter equation and integrating by parts and recalling that the outer unit normal on $\partial \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ is $-e_{n+1}$, we find

$$\begin{split} 2td'(U,t) &= -2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \langle \nabla(ZU), \nabla U \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &= 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} \partial_y^a UZU \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZU \operatorname{div}(y^a \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \nabla U) \\ &= 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} \partial_y^a UZU \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a + 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZU \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla U) \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \\ &+ 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZU \langle \nabla U, \nabla \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a \rangle y^a \\ &= 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} \partial_y^a UZU \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a - 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZUVF \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZU \langle \nabla U, \frac{X}{2t} \rangle \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZUUt \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &= 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} \partial_y^a UZU \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a - 2t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZUF \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} (ZU)^2 \, \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a. \end{split}$$

We have thus proved the following formula for $t \in (-1, -\delta)$

$$d'(U,t) = \frac{1}{2t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} (ZU)^2 \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} ZUF \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}} \partial_y^a UZU \,\overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$
(12.9)

Substituting now (12.9) in (12.8) we obtain

$$D_{\delta}'(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} (ZU)^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} t(ZU) F \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a + \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{S_r \setminus S_{\delta r}} t \partial_y^a U ZU \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a.$$
(12.10)

We claim that on the thin set $\{y = 0\}$ we have

$$\partial_{y}^{a}UZU = 0$$
 a.e. with respect $y^{a}dXdt$. (12.11)

We first note that U restricted to $\{y = 0\}$ is locally Lipschitz continuous in x, t. We also have that for a.e t, since $\nabla U_t(\cdot, t) \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a dX)$, therefore U_t has a L^2_{loc} trace at $\{y = 0\}$. Moreover by a standard weak type argument using test functions, we can show that such a trace is in fact bounded because of the Lipschitz continuity of U in t and coincides with the weak time derivative of U at $\{y = 0\}$. Now on the set $\{U > 0\}$, we have that $\lim_{y\to 0} y^a U_y = 0$, hence a.e. we have

$$\lim_{y \to 0} y^a U_y Z U = 0 \text{ on } \{U > 0\}.$$

Then on the set $\{U = 0\} \cap \{y = 0\}$, we note that

$$ZU = 0$$
 a.e.

which again implies $\lim_{y\to 0} y^a U_y ZU = 0$ a.e. Therefore the claim (12.11) follows. Combined with (12.10), it gives

$$D'_{\delta}(U,r) = \frac{1}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} (ZU)^2 \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a - \frac{2}{r^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}_r^+ \setminus \mathbb{S}_{\delta r}^+} t(ZU) F \overline{\mathscr{G}}_a y^a.$$
(12.12)

At this point, we can argue as in the proof of Lemma 6.10 in [4] to reach the desired conclusion by letting $\delta \to 0^+$.

References

- Athanasopoulos, I., Caffarelli, L., Milakis, E.: On the regularity of the non-dynamic parabolic fractional obstacle problem. J. Differ. Equ. 265(6), 2614–2647 (2018)
- Athanasopoulos, I., Caffarelli, L., Milakis, E.: Parabolic obstacle problems, quasi-convexity and regularity. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) XIX, 781–825 (2019)
- Audrito, A., Terracini, S.: On the nodal set of solutions to a class of nonlocal parabolic reaction-diffusion equations. arXiv:1807.10135
- Banerjee, A., Garofalo, N.: Monotonicity of generalized frequencies and the strong unique continuation property for fractional parabolic equations. Adv. Math. 336, 149–241 (2018)
- Banerjee, A., Smit Vega Garcia, M., Zeller, A.: Higher regularity of the free boundary in the parabolic Signorini problem, Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 56, Paper 7 (2017)
- Banerjee, A., Danielli, D., Garofalo, N., Petrosyan, A.: The regular free boundary in the thin obstacle problem for degenerate parabolic equations, St. Petersburg Math. Jour., Special issue in occasion of the 85th birthday of Nina Uraltseva, 32(2), (2020). to appear. arXiv:1906.06885
- Caffarelli, L.A., De Silva, D., Savin, O.: The two membranes problem for different operators. Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Anal. Non Lineaire 34(4), 899–932 (2017)
- Caffarelli, L.A., Salsa, S., Silvestre, L.: Regularity estimates for the solution and the free boundary of the obstacle problem for the fractional Laplacian. Invent. Math. 171(2), 425–461 (2008)
- Caffarelli, L., Silvestre, L.: An extension problem related to the fractional Laplacian. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 32(7–9), 1245–1260 (2007)
- Chiarenza, F., Serapioni, R.: A remark on a Harnack inequality for degenerate parabolic equations. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 73, 179–190 (1985)
- Colombo, M., Spolaor, L., Velichkov, B.: On the asymptotic behavior of the solutions to parabolic variational inequalities. arXiv:1809.06075
- Danielli, D., Garofalo, N.: Interior Cauchy-Schauder estimates for the heat flow in Carnot–Caratheodory spaces. Methods Appl. Anal. 15(1), 121–136 (2008)
- Danielli, D., Garofalo, N., Petrosyan, A., To, T.: Optimal regularity and the free boundary in the parabolic Signorini problem, Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 249, no. 1181, v + 103 pp (2017)
- Duvaut, G., Lions, J.-L.: Les inéquations en mécanique et en physique, (French) Travaux et Recherches Mathématiques, No. 21. Dunod, Paris, 1972. xx+387 pp
- Fernández-Real, X., Jhaveri, Y.: On the singular set in the thin obstacle problem: higher order blow-ups and the very thin obstacle problem, arXiv:1812.01515
- Garofalo, N.: Fractional thoughts, New developments in the analysis of nonlocal operators, Contemp. Math., vol. 723, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, pp. 1–135 (2019)
- 17. Garofalo, N.: Two classical properties of the Bessel quotient $I_{\nu+1}/I_{\nu}$ and their implications in pde's, Advances in Harmonic Analysis and Partial Differential Equations, Contemp. Math., vol. 748, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, pp. 57–98 (2020)
- Garofalo, N., Petrosyan, A.: Some new monotonicity formulas and the singular set in the lower dimensional obstacle problem. Invent. Math. 177(2), 415–461 (2009)
- Garofalo, N., Petrosyan, A., Smit Vega Garcia, M.: An epiperimetric inequality approach to the regularity of the free boundary in the Signorini problem with variable coefficients. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 105(6), 745–787 (2016)
- Garofalo, N., Petrosyan, A., Pop, C. A., Smit Vega Garcia, M.: Regularity of the free boundary for the obstacle problem for the fractional Laplacian with drift, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Lináire 34(3), 533–570 (2017)
- Garofalo, N., Ros-Oton, X.: Structure and regularity of the singular set in the obstacle problem for the fractional Laplacian, Revista Matematica Iberoámericana. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 35(5), 1309–1365 (2019)

- Lebedev, N. N.: Special functions and their applications, Revised edition, translated from the Russian and edited by R. A. Silverman, Unabridged and corrected republication. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1972. xii+308 pp
- Monneau, R.: Pointwise estimates for Laplace equation. Applications to the free boundary of the obstacle problem with Dini coefficients. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 15, 279–335 (2009)
- Nyström, K., Sande, O.: Extension properties and boundary estimates for a fractional heat operator. Nonlinear Anal. 140, 29–37 (2016)
- Petrosyan, A., Zeller, A.: Boundedness and continuity of the time derivative in the parabolic Signorini problem. Math. Res. Let. 26(1), 281–292 (2019)
- 26. Shi, W.: An epiperimetric inequality approach to the parabolic Signorini problem, arXiv:1810.11791
- Stinga, P.R., Torrea, J.L.: Regularity theory and extension problem for fractional nonlocal parabolic equations and the master equation. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 49(5), 3893–3924 (2017)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Authors and Affiliations

Agnid Banerjee¹ · Donatella Danielli² · Nicola Garofalo³ · Arshak Petrosyan⁴

➢ Nicola Garofalo rembrandt54@gmail.com

> Agnid Banerjee agnidban@gmail.com

Donatella Danielli DDanielli@asu.edu

Arshak Petrosyan arshak@purdue.edu

- ¹ TIFR CAM, Bangalore 560065, India
- ² School of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Arizona State University, 900 S Palm, Walk Tempe, AZ 85281, USA
- ³ Dipartimento di Ingegneria Civile, Edile e Ambientale (DICEA), Università di Padova, 35131 Padova, Italy
- ⁴ Department of Mathematics, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47907, USA